
 

 

 

 
To: Chair and Members of the Planning 

Committee 
Date: 

 
6 January 2021 
 

 Direct Dial: 
 

01824 712589 

 e-mail: democratic@denbighshire.gov.uk 

 
 
Dear Councillor 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE to be held at 9.30 
AM on WEDNESDAY, 13 JANUARY 2021 in VIA VIDEO CONFERENCE. 
 
Yours sincerely  
 
G Williams 
Head of Legal, HR and Democratic Services 
 
 
AGENDA 
 
1 APOLOGIES   

 

2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  (Pages 7 - 8) 

 Members to declare any personal or prejudicial interests in any business 

identified to be considered at this meeting. 

3 URGENT MATTERS AS AGREED BY THE CHAIR   

 Notice of items which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be considered at the 

meeting as a matter of urgency pursuant to Section 100B(4) of the Local 

Government Act, 1972. 

4 MINUTES  (Pages 9 - 16) 

 To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting 

held on the 16 December 2020 (copy attached). 

APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION FOR DEVELOPMENT (ITEMS 5 - 9) - 
 
5 APPLICATION NO. 01/2020/0808 - 47 ERW SALUSBURY, DENBIGH  

(Pages 17 - 36) 

 To consider an application for the erection of a single storey flat roof 

extension to rear of dwelling at 47 Erw Salusbury, Denbigh (copy attached). 

Public Document Pack



 

6 APPLICATION NO. 01/2020/0832 - GLANRAFON, BROOKHOUSE ROAD, 
DENBIGH  (Pages 37 - 56) 

 To consider an application for extensions and alterations to existing dwelling 

(amended scheme) at Glanrafon, Brookhouse Road, Denbigh (copy 

attached). 

7 APPLICATION NO. 31/2020/0338 - LAND ADJOINING MARLLWYN, 
GROESFFORDD MARLI  (Pages 57 - 102) 

 To consider an application for the erection of 3 affordable dwellings and 1 

open market dwelling with a detached double garage. Formation of 2 

vehicular accesses and visibility splays, Provision of associated car parking, 

landscaping and the Iistallation of 2 package treatment Plants, a ground 

source heat pump and rainwater harvesting system at land adjoining 

Marllwyn, Groesffordd Marli, Abergele (copy attached). 

8 APPLICATION NO. 40/2020/0813 GLAN CLWYD HOSPITAL, RHUDDLAN 
ROAD, BODELWYDDAN  (Pages 103 - 132) 

 To consider an application for the development of 2.8ha of land by the 

erection of a Use Class C2 hospital building (mental health unit to replace the 

existing Ablett Unit) with associated landscaping, car parking and site 

vehicular access; and the erection of a multi-storey car park with associated 

works (outline application - all matters reserved) at Glan Clwyd Hospital, 

Rhuddlan Road Bodelwyddan, Rhyl, LL18 5UJ (copy attached). 

9 APPLICATION NO. 45/2020/0897 - LAND AT REAR OF 2 ELM GROVE, 
RHYL  (Pages 133 - 150) 

 To consider an application for the erection of 1 no. dwelling, detached 

garage, means of access and associated works at the land at rear of 2  Elm 

Grove, Rhyl (copy attached). 

 
MEMBERSHIP 
 
Councillors 
 
Councillor Joe Welch (Chair) 
 

Councillor Alan James (Vice-Chair) 
 

Mabon ap Gwynfor 
Ellie Chard 
Ann Davies 
Peter Evans 
Brian Jones 
Tina Jones 
Gwyneth Kensler 
Christine Marston 
Melvyn Mile 
 

Bob Murray 
Merfyn Parry 
Paul Penlington 
Pete Prendergast 
Peter Scott 
Tony Thomas 
Julian Thompson-Hill 
Emrys Wynne 
Mark Young 
 

 
COPIES TO: 



 

 
All Councillors for information 
Press and Libraries 
Town and Community Councils 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



WELCOME TO DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL'S 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

 

HOW THE MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED 
 – Virtual arrangements June 2020 

 
Unless the Chair of the Committee advises to the contrary, the order in which the main items will be taken will follow the 
agenda set out at the front of this report. 
 

 

General introduction 
 
The Chair will open the meeting at 9.30am and welcome everyone to the Planning Committee. 
 
The Chair will ask if there are any apologies for absence and declarations of interest. 
 
The Chair will invite Officers to make a brief introduction to matters relevant to the meeting. 
 
Officers will outline as appropriate items where we have received requests for deferral, withdrawals, special reports, and 
any Part 2 items where the press and public may be excluded. Reference will be made to additional information prior to 
the start of the meeting, including the late representations/amendments summary sheets (‘Blue Sheets’) and any 
supplementary or revised plans relating to items for consideration. 
 
The Blue Sheets' contain important information, including a summary of material received in relation to items on the 
agenda between the completion of the main reports and the day before the meeting. The sheets also set out the 
proposed running order on planning applications. 
 
In relation to the running order of items, any Members seeking to bring forward consideration of an item will be expected 
to make such a request immediately following the Officer's introduction. Any such request must be made as a formal 
proposal and will be subject to a vote.  
 
The Planning Committee currently consists of 19 elected Members. In accordance with protocol, 10 Members must be 
present at the start of a debate on an item to constitute quorum and to allow a vote to be taken.  
 
County Council Members who are not elected onto Planning Committee may attend the meeting and speak on an item, 
but are not able to make a proposal to grant or refuse, or to vote. 
 

 
CONSIDERING PLANNING APPLICATIONS  

 
The sequence to be followed 

 
The Chair will announce the item which is to be dealt with next. In relation to planning applications, reference will be 
made to the application number, the location and basis of the proposal, the relevant local Members for the area, and the 
Officer recommendation. 
 
If any Member is minded to propose deferral of an item, including to allow for the site to be visited by a Site Inspection 
Panel, the request should be made, with the planning reason for deferral, before any public speaking or debate on that 
item. 
 
Where relevant, the Chair will offer the opportunity for Members to read any late information on an item on the 'Blue 
Sheets' before proceeding. 
 
Prior to any debate, the Chair may invite Officers to provide a brief introduction to an item where this is considered to be 
worthwhile in view of the nature of the application. In addition the Officers may read out any prepared speech by an 

Page 5

Agenda Item 1



interested party for or against the application. The speech provided against any application will be read out first. 
 
 
The Chair will announce that the item is open for debate and offer Members opportunity to speak and to make 
propositions on the item.  
 
If any application has been subject to a Site Inspection Panel prior to the Committee, the Chair will normally invite those 
Members who attended, including the Local Member, to speak first. 
 
On all other applications, the Chair will permit the Local Member(s) to speak first, should he/she/they wish to do so. 
 
Members are normally limited to a maximum of five minutes speaking time, and the Chair will conduct the debate in 
accordance with Standing Orders. 
 
Once a Member has spoken, he/she should not speak again unless seeking clarification of points arising in debate, 

and then only once all other Members have had the opportunity to speak, and with the agreement of the Chair. 
 
At the conclusion of Members debate, the Chair will ask Officers to respond as appropriate to questions and points 
raised, including advice on any resolution in conflict with the recommendation. 
 
Prior to proceeding to the vote, the Chair will invite or seek clarification of propositions and seconders for propositions for 
or against the Officer recommendation, or any other resolutions including amendments to propositions. Where a 
proposition is made contrary to the Officer recommendation, the Chair will seek clarification of the planning reason(s) for 
that proposition, in order that this may be recorded in the Minutes of the meeting. The Chair may request comment from 
the Legal and Planning Officer on the validity of the stated reason(s). 
 
The Chair will announce when the debate is closed, and that voting is to follow. 

 
The voting procedure 

 
Before requesting Members to vote, the Chair will announce what resolutions have been made, and how the vote is to 
proceed. If necessary, further clarification may be sought of amendments, new or additional conditions and reasons for 
refusal, so there is no ambiguity over what the Committee is voting for or against. 
 
The voting will proceed with the Chair going around all the Planning Committee members eligible to vote to ask for their 
verbal “For”, “Against” or “Abstain” vote. The votes will be marked down and the Chair will then announce whether that 
application has been approved or refused. 

Page 6



 
 
 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

 

 

 
Code of Conduct for Members 
 

DISCLOSURE AND REGISTRATION OF INTERESTS 
 
  

I, (name)   

  

a *member/co-opted member of 
(*please delete as appropriate) 

Denbighshire County Council  

 
 

 

CONFIRM that I have declared a *personal / personal and prejudicial 
interest not previously declared in accordance with the provisions of Part 
III of the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members, in respect of the 
following:- 
(*please delete as appropriate) 

Date of Disclosure:   

   

Committee (please specify):   

   

Agenda Item No.   

   

Subject Matter:   

   

Nature of Interest: 

(See the note below)* 

 

 
 

 

   

Signed   

   

Date   

 

 
*Note: Please provide sufficient detail e.g. ‘I am the owner of land adjacent to the application for planning permission 
made by Mr Jones', or 'My husband / wife is an employee of the company which has made an application for financial 
assistance’. 

Page 7

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Committee held via Video Conference on 
Wednesday, 16 December 2020 at 9.30 am. 
 

PRESENT 
 
Councillors Ellie Chard, Ann Davies, Peter Evans, Alan James (Vice-Chair), Brian Jones, 
Tina Jones, Gwyneth Kensler, Christine Marston, Melvyn Mile, Bob Murray, Merfyn Parry, 
Paul Penlington, Pete Prendergast, Peter Scott, Tony Thomas, Joe Welch (Chair), 
Emrys Wynne and Mark Young 
 

ALSO PRESENT 

 
Development Control Manager (PM), Planning Officer (PG), Strategic Planning and 
Housing Manager (AL), Planning Officer (KB), Solicitor (TD), and Committee 
Administrator (SLW)  
 
Observers – Councillors Huw Hilditch-Roberts, Bobby Feeley, Meirick Lloyd Davies and 
Huw Williams 
 
Public Speakers – Matthew Green and Peter Lloyd 
 

 
1 APOLOGIES  

 
Apologies received from Councillors Mabon ap Gwynfor and Julian Thompson-Hill. 

 
2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 
Councillor Emrys Wynne declared a prejudicial interest in item 6, Land at (part 
garden) of 73A Erw Goch, Ruthin as he knows the applicant very well.   
 
Councillor Tina Jones declared a prejudicial interest in item 8, Denbighshire Local 
Development Plan 2006-2021 – Annual Monitoring Report 2020 as she owns a 
piece of land in the Development Plan. 
 

3 URGENT MATTERS AS AGREED BY THE CHAIR  
 
No urgent matters. 
 

4 MINUTES  
 
The minutes of the Planning Committee held on 11 November 2020 were 
submitted. 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 11 November 2020 be 
received and confirmed as a correct record. 
 

5 APPLICATION NO. 02/2020/0724/PF - LAND AT GLASDIR, RUTHIN  

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 
An application was submitted for the erection of 63 no. affordable dwellings 
together with access, open space and associated works (amended scheme) at land 
at Glasdir, Ruthin. 
 
Public Speakers –  
 
Matthew Green (against) - My concerns regarding the specific planning application 
can be summarised as follows: 
 
1 – Similar plans were objected in March of this year (9 to 4) because the proposed 
layout, character and design of the proposed houses would not be in keeping with 
the existing developments in the area. 
These proposals (though different) are of an equally different nature /characteristic 
to the properties that have been built on Glasdir (and the rest of Ruthin) and from 
the basis of  democratic consistency these should be equally declined for planning 
this time round. 
 
2- Councillors agreed in March 2020 (just six months ago) that the increase in the 
number of dwellings and people would strain the existing infrastructure in the area. 
Concerns had been raised about the proposed area of development as it would 
have an effect on the traffic flow for the area which was already bad at peak times. 
There were concerns raised with the potential impact on the ecology of the area, 
and the heightened risk with flooding especially as the area was within the flood risk 
area. Indeed, one councillor can be quoted stating: “We can no longer hold back 
the rain or hold back the rivers, or indeed hold back the tide. "We should 
immediately revise our local development plan and cease building on flood 
plains,” and the councillor who said this is present. 
 
3 – Why is it the Council would agree to building new properties in Ruthin, when 
Clwyd Alyn’s site in Llanbedr Dyffryn Clwyd still has availability? That was a 38 unit 
site – and yet still has availability. 
 
4 – Can Clwyd Alyn be trusted to build 60 + dwellings when their planning 
information is littered with errors and misinformation. On CA’s masterplan online it 
talks of 
• Ysgol Glasdir – frankly insulting to Ysgol Pen Barras and Rhos Street School. 
• Initial Paperwork stated there were 63 dwellings. 
• CAHL planning statement – page 31, point 117 states 65 dwellings. 
Though these may be small errors – how can we trust a company to build 
properties if they cannot get their due diligence correct on their paperwork? I could 
not allow such a breach of basic trust. 
 
5 – The impact on the Welsh Language. In the Welsh Language Impact 
Assessment, it says and I quote “the average household size of 2.3 people, the 
development would have 145 residents” (page 14, point 5.9). Properties that are 
built for 6 people – WILL have 6 people in it. Each property will be filled to its 
maxed. The calculation therefore, will be 263 residents.  
 

Page 10



6 – All of the literature suggests the new residents of this housing estate would be 
“local” people. However, is it not the truth that these properties will be open to the 
SARTH register bands 1 -4? SARTH banding 4 is open to anyone – not local to the 
country nor the county?  
 
7- In all of the literature and asked by me in the preplanning application – there is 
no information about the types of tenancies the residents of the proposed scheme 
could have. Will they all be General needs? Supported Living? Leaseholders? IMR? 
Will the tenancies be assured or fixed term? Will there be introductory tenancies? 
Will residents have rights to succession? Without this key information how can you 
expect the residents of Ruthin to agree or disagree. 
 
8  – Much of the information and surveys used are out of date. The Traffic Survey is 
from 20th June 2019.  That is over a calendar year old / is two school years out of 
date. 
An extraordinary year in which I implore the Committee to reject the planning 
application for a second time. 
 
Peter Lloyd (for) - It seems a long time since I spoke to you in March and the world 
is much changed. You have made climate change a guiding principle and amended 
your constitution so all decisions ‘have regard to tackling climate and ecological 
change’, This development of net zero carbon innovative housing aligns with those 
decision making principles. 
 
The pandemic has taught us that people want to live in places that are safe, local, 
accessible and close to day to day facilities in high quality houses with community 
spaces. The need for affordable housing remains and development will contribute 
to addressing housing under-delivery - something the annual LDP monitoring report 
further on in the agenda again acknowledges. 
 
CAHL has committed to Welsh Government Placemaking principles and worked 
since March with NRW, the Design Commission and particularly with Ruthin Ward 
Members to understand their design concerns and to resolve them following the 
unexpected refusal in March. 
 
This scheme has fewer (now 63) houses with those adjacent to the school 
removed. it has revised dwelling design, layout, orientation and materials to meet 
member aspiration to visually integrate the scheme with surrounding development. 
 
Drainage and flood infrastructure will be adopted by the Council, all agreed with 
SAB teams and NRW. It is TAN 15 compliant. £68,000 will be provided as a 
commuted sum to enhance local play areas. 
 
Glasdir is a development plan scheme over 20 years combining housing, 
community facilities, schools and employment close to town.  Funded by the Welsh 
Government Innovative Housing Programme, Social Housing Grant and Private 
Finance from Clwyd Alyn it will be flood free during its design event, deliver open 
space, cycling and surface water infrastructure serving all of Glasdir. It shouldn’t be 
news to anyone that housing for local people is one of the uses planned for Glasdir. 
 

Page 11



Denbighshire own housing occupancy surveys tells us 66% of new homes are 
occupied by existing Denbighshire residents (rising to 80% from north Wales) and 
2/3’s work in Denbighshire. 
 
Planning policy promotes sustainable development on suitable undeveloped and 
allocated land within settlements such as this to deliver national Placemaking 
outcomes. 
 
IT delivers low carbon construction, low energy use to reduce fuel poverty, local 
materials and labour. The designs nod to Glasdir Design codes and Brief in a way 
that shapes places which are resilient to climate change. 
 
Responses from statutory and internal consultees, including the Town Council, 
NRW, Highways, Flood Risk, Biodiversity and Education officers show none object. 
This is a fully resolved and deliverable scheme that satisfies all strands of national 
and local policies. 
 
And so to conclude with specific benefits: 
 
Partnership, bringing forward publicly owned land for affordable homes for local 
people - a partnership between WG, DCC and Clwyd Alyn. 
 
Substantial financial contributions to Open Space and through SABS approval 
Sustainable Drainage and flood risk mitigation. 
 
A stalled housing site unlocked with IHP funding, Welsh Government and CAHL 
investment. Delivering homes not permissions, showing confidence and investment 
in Ruthin. I urge you to grant permission today. 
 
General debate –  
 
Councillor Emrys Wynne, local member, confirmed that following the application 
which had been refused in March 2020, a public consultation had been carried out 
together with regular meetings with local members.  The public met regularly and 
public consultation held online which had enabled local people to respond.   
 
Councillors Bobby Feeley and Huw Hilditch-Roberts, both local members confirmed 
that following the consultation, and meetings, the design of the properties, access, 
and the number of properties had been revised.  Clwyd Alyn Housing Association 
had also agreed to leave free the piece of land abutting the school.  All local 
members agreed the revised plan which had been submitted was more acceptable. 
 
During discussion the following issues were raised: 

 Concerns regarding flooding.  It was confirmed that the site was included in 
the current LDP but in the future it would be preferential that no development 
be included on a known flood plain.   All flood defences had been carried out 
to ensure the safety of the site and NRW together with flood risk engineers 
found them to be acceptable.   Clwyd Alyn would be required to maintained 
sustainable drainage system. In a situation where a Registered Social 

Page 12



Landlord faced insolvency challenges, the Welsh Government would take 
responsibility. 

 Access and traffic concerns.  Highway officers were unable to attend the 
meeting but they took into account all traffic data which was not considered 
to be out of date.  In March, the application had been refused purely on 
design and highway grounds had not been raised.  Highway officers did not 
raise any issues with the proposed development. 

 Maintenance of play areas and green areas – it was confirmed that a 
contribution towards maintenance of the play areas was being sought. 

 
Councillor Paul Penlington confirmed he was not in favour of the development 
being constructed on a flood plain and requested his concerns be noted. 
 
At this juncture, Councillor Melvyn Mile stated that initially in March the main 
concern had been regarding the aesthetics and the applicant had done a lot of work 
to change the design and they should be commended. 
 
Proposal Councillor Tony Thomas proposed the application be granted in 
accordance with officer recommendations, seconded by Councillor Peter Evans. 
 
Vote – 
Grant – 16 
Abstain – 1 
Refuse – 1 
 
RESOLVED that permission be GRANTED in accordance with officer 
recommendations as detailed within the report and supplementary papers. 

  
6 APPLICATION NO. 02/2020/0811/PF - LAND AT (PART GARDEN OF) 73A ERW 

GOCH, RUTHIN LL15 1RS  
 
At this juncture, Councillor Emrys Wynne declared a prejudicial interest as he was a 
friend of the applicant, and left the meeting for this item. 
 
Proposal – Councillor Merfyn Parry proposed the application be deferred to enable 
the applicant to carry out additional work and present the application at a future 
meeting, seconded by Councillor Ann Davies. 
 
Vote -  
For deferment – 17 
Against deferment – 0 
Abstain – 0 
 
RESOLVED that the application for Land at (Part Garden of) 73A Erw Goch, Ruthin 
be deferred to a future meeting. 
 

7 APPLICATION NO. 16/2020/0810/PF - LAND ADJACENT TO RHESGOED 
FARM, LLANBEDR DYFFRYN CLWYD, RUTHIN LL15 1YE  
 

Page 13



Officers explained the reason the application had been reported to Planning 
Committee was due to the application being submitted by a County Councillor and 
receipt of 4 or more objections. 
 
Proposal – Councillor Merfyn Parry proposed the application be granted in 
accordance with officer recommendations, seconded by Councillor Peter Scott. 
 
Vote -  
Grant – 18 
Abstain – 0 
Refuse – 0 
 
RESOLVED that permission be GRANTED in accordance with officer 
recommendations as detailed within the report. 
 

8 DENBIGHSHIRE LOCAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2006-2021 - ANNUAL 
MONITORING REPORT 2020  
 
At this juncture, Councillor Tina Jones declared a prejudicial interest as she owned 
a piece of land in the Development Plan and left the meeting. 
 
The Planning Officer introduced the Denbighshire Local Development Plan 2006 - 
2021: Draft Annual Monitoring Report 2020. 
 
The Council was duty bound to produce an Annual Monitoring Report (AMR) for the 
adopted Denbighshire Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006 – 2021 
 
Acknowledging the difficulties that Local Authorities and communities were facing in 
the current Covid19 pandemic, the Minister for Housing and Local Government 
wrote on the 7th of July 2020 that there would not be a requirement for an Annual 
Monitoring Report to be submitted by October 2020.  Local Authorities were 
encouraged to continue with data collection as this would help shape and inform 
policy and plan development.  A copy of the letter had been  included in the 
appendices. 
 
The report highlighted the progress with implementing the Local Development 
Plan,which highlighted any challenges within the LDP.  
 
There were three fundamental elements of the adopted LDP which require 
particular attention when drafting the next LDP: 

 Delivery of market and affordable houses in line with revised Welsh 
Government Household Projections for the County; 

 Addressing the accommodation needs of Gypsy and Travellers; and 

 Reflecting the results of reviews that were carried out for Minerals and Waste 
Management provision in North Wales. 

 
RESOLVED – that the planning committee note the content of the Draft Annual 
Monitoring report. 
 

The meeting concluded at 11.10 a.m. 

Page 14



 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



WARD : 
 

Denbigh Lower 
 

WARD MEMBER(S): 
 

Cllr Mark Young (c) 
Cllr Rhys Thomas 
 

APPLICATION NO: 
 

01/2020/0808/ PF 

PROPOSAL: 
 

Erection of a single storey flat roof extension to rear of dwelling 

LOCATION: 47  Erw Salusbury   Denbigh LL16 3HN 
 

 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



01/2020/0808
Scale: 1:1250
Printed on: 18/12/2020 at 16:21 PM © Denbighshire County Council

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100023408© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100023408

20 m
100 f t

Page 19



Page 20



 

P
age 21



P
age 22



Eitem Agenda 5 / Agenda Item 5

P
age 23



P
age 24



Eitem Agenda 5 / Agenda Item 5

P
age 25



P
age 26



Eitem Agenda 5 / Agenda Item 5

P
age 27



P
age 28



 Denise Shaw 
WARD : 
 

Denbigh Lower 
 

WARD MEMBER(S): 
 

Cllr Mark Young (c) 
Cllr Rhys Thomas 
 

APPLICATION NO: 
 

01/2020/0808/ PF 

PROPOSAL: 
 

Erection of a single storey flat roof extension to rear of dwelling 

LOCATION: 47  Erw Salusbury   Denbigh LL16 3HN 
 

APPLICANT: Mr Mark Evans 
 

CONSTRAINTS: None 
 

PUBLICITY 
UNDERTAKEN: 
 

Site Notice - No 
Press Notice - No 
Neighbour letters - Yes 
 

  
REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE: 
Scheme of Delegation Part 2 

 Recommendation to grant / approve – Town / Community Council objection 
 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES: 

DENBIGH TOWN COUNCIL – Objections. 
 
There were concerns as to the actual size of the extension in addition to the existing extension 
made. This will have an impact on neighbouring properties – light and being overlooked. 
The extension is also not in keeping with other properties in the location 

 
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY: 

 
In objection 
Representations received from: 
 
Mr. & Mrs. R. Ian Roberts, Bryn Rhydd, 45, Erw Salusbury, Denbigh 
 
Summary of planning based representations in objection: 

1. Dwelling already extended previously. Proposed extension would significantly 
increase original footprint of dwelling. 

2. Adverse impact on residential amenity of neighbouring property – would be ‘boxed in’ 
3. Considers plans inaccurately plotted neighbouring property. 

 
 
EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION:   22/12/2020 
 
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):  

 awaiting consideration by Committee 
 

PLANNING ASSESSMENT: 
1. THE PROPOSAL: 

1.1 Summary of proposals 
1.1.1 The proposal is for a single storey flat roof extension to the rear of the dwelling. 

 
1.1.2 The extension would project some 5.6 metres from the rear elevation and would have 

a height of approximately 2.6 metres about ground level. The extension would be 
located to the side of an existing conservatory. 
 

Page 29



1.1.3 Walls would be rendered and no windows are proposed in the side elevation facing 
towards the neighbouring property. 

 
1.1.4 Proposed elevations are shown below: 

 

 
 

 
 

1.1.5 Proposed site plan showing relationship of proposed extension to surrounding 
buildings (extension marked in yellow): 
 

 
 

1.2 Description of site and surroundings 
1.2.1 The dwelling is a bungalow which is situated in on a housing estate in Denbigh. The 

property has previously been extended to the rear. There is also a conservatory 
located to the rear of the property. 
 

1.2.2 Properties along Erw Salusbury are mainly bungalows, which includes the 
neighbouring property to the south, 45 Erw Salusbury. The neighbouring property also 
has a conservatory to the rear and the side boundary between the two properties is 
marked by timber fencing and an established hedge. 

 

Page 30



1.2.3 Photos of the site: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
1.2.4 Photos of the shared boundary with the neighbour: 
 
 

 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 31



1.3 Relevant planning constraints/considerations 
1.3.1 Within Denbigh development boundary. 

 
1.4 Relevant planning history 

1.4.1 None. 
 

1.5 Developments/changes since the original submission 
1.5.1 None. 

 
1.6 Other relevant background information 

1.6.1 None. 
 

2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY: 
2.1 N/A 

 
3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE: 

The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be: 
 

3.1 Local Policy/Guidance 
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013) 
Policy RD1 – Sustainable development and good standard design 
Policy RD3 – Extensions and alterations to existing dwellings 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development 
 

3.2 Government Policy / Guidance 
 Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 December 2018 
 Development Control Manual (2016) 
 

4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS: 
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application, 
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that 
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted 
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that 
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in 
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.  
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design 
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the 
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).  
 
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 10 (December 
2018) and other relevant legislation. 
 
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to the policies of the 
Denbighshire Local Development Plan, and to the material planning considerations which are 
considered to be of relevance to the proposal. 
 
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be: 
 

4.1.1 Principle 
4.1.2 Visual amenity 
4.1.3 Residential amenity 

 
Other matters 
 

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations: 
4.2.1 Principle 

Policy RD 3 relates specifically to the extension and alteration of existing dwellings, 
and states that these will be supported subject to compliance with detailed criteria. 

Page 32



Policy RD1 supports development proposals within development boundaries 
providing a range of impact tests are met.  
 
The Residential Development SPG offers basic advice on the principles to be 
adopted when designing domestic extensions and related developments.  
The principle of appropriate extensions and alterations to existing dwellings is 
therefore acceptable. The assessment of the specific impacts of the development 
proposed is set out in the following sections. 

 
4.2.2 Visual Amenity 

Criteria i) of Policy RD 3 requires the scale and form of the proposed extension or 
alteration to be subordinate to the original dwelling, or the dwelling as it was 20 years 
before the planning application is made.  
Criteria ii) of Policy RD 3 requires that a proposal is sympathetic in design, scale, 
massing and materials to the character and appearance of the existing building.  
Criteria iii) of Policy RD3 requires that a proposal does not represent an 
overdevelopment of the site. 
 
Criteria i) of Policy RD 1 requires that development respects the site and 
surroundings in terms of siting, layout, scale, form, character, design, materials, 
aspect, micro-climate and intensity of use of land/buildings and spaces around and 
between buildings. 
Criteria vi) of Policy RD1 requires that development proposals do not affect the 
amenity of local residents and land users and provide satisfactory amenity standards 
itself. 
 
Representations on the visual amenity impacts have been made by a member of the 
public and have raised concerns that the extension would significantly increase the 
footprint of the original dwelling. 
 
Whilst the dwelling appears to have been previously extended to the rear and benefits 
from a conservatory, having regard to the design, siting, scale, massing and materials 
of the proposed extension, in relation to the character and appearance of the dwelling 
itself, the locality and landscape, it is considered the proposals would not represent 
overdevelopment of the site and nor would it have an unacceptable impact on visual 
amenity and would therefore be in general compliance with the tests in the policies 
referred to. 

 
 

4.2.3 Residential Amenity 
Criteria iii) of Policy RD 3 requires that a proposal does not represent an 
overdevelopment of the site.  
 
Criteria vi) of Policy RD 1 requires that proposals do not unacceptably affect the 
amenity of local residents and land users and provide satisfactory amenity standards 
itself.  

 
The Residential Development SPG states that no more than 75% of a residential 
property should be covered by buildings. The Residential Space Standards SPG 
specifies that 40m2 of private external amenity space should be provided as a 
minimum standard for residential dwellings. 
 
Representations on the residential amenity impacts have been made by members of 
the public, which raised concerns regarding the impact of the proposed extension on 
the residential amenity of the neighbouring property to the north, No. 45. 
 
The proposal is for a flat roof single storey extension which would project some 5.6m 
out from the rear elevation of the dwelling. 
 

Page 33



The Residential Development SPG advises one of the main issues involved with rear 
extensions is the need to protect the amenities of occupiers of dwellings immediately 
adjoining a proposed extension in terms of protecting privacy, maintaining sunlight 
and daylight and maintaining a reasonable outlook. The SPG refers to a ‘45 degree 
guide’ which provides a tool to help assess the impact of rear extensions on 
neighbouring properties. 

 
The 45 degree guide is applicable in this instance and it would appear that the 45 
degree line from the windows in the rear elevation of the neighbouring property would 
be breached by the proposed extension. However, due regard also has to be had to 
the scale and form of the extension and the boundary treatments. 
 
In this case, the extension proposed has a flat roof which would be only 2.6m in 
height, and having regard to the presence of timber fencing and the established 
hedge which marks the boundaries between the two properties, Officers do not 
consider the proposal would give rise to an unacceptable level of overshadowing of 
the neighbour’s rear windows, conservatory or garden area which would warrant a 
recommendation of refusal of planning permission on residential amenity grounds, 
and nor would it be of a scale which would give rise to an overbearing impact on the 
neighbouring property. 

 
The proposed extension also does not include any window or doors in the side 
elevation facing towards the neighbouring property. 
 
In respecting the concerns of the occupier of the neighbouring property, having 
regard to the scale, location and design of the proposed development, it is not 
considered that the proposals would have an unacceptable adverse impact on 
residential amenity on the neighbouring property, and would therefore be in general 
compliance with the tests of the policies referred to. 

 
 

Other matters 
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the Council not 
only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable steps in exercising its 
functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being) objectives. The Act sets a 
requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application determined, how the development 
complies with the Act. 
 
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3 ‘Well-
being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development Principles’ of the 
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The recommendation is made in 
accordance with the Act’s sustainable development principle through its contribution towards 
Welsh Governments well-being objective of supporting safe, cohesive and resilient 
communities. It is therefore considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable 
impact upon the achievement of well-being objectives as a result of the proposed 
recommendation.  

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS: 
5.1 Having regard to the detailing of the proposals, the potential impacts on the locality, and the 

particular tests of the relevant policies, the application is considered to be acceptable and is 
recommended for grant. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT- subject to the following conditions: - 
 
1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than 13 January 

2026 
 

Page 34



2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown 
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any 
other condition pursuant to this permission: 
(i) Existing and proposed elevations (Drawing No. 2064-03) received 6 November 2020  
(ii) Existing floor and site plan (Drawing No. 2064-01) received 6 November 2020  
(iii) Proposed floor and site plan (Drawing No. 2064-02) received 6 November 2020  
(iv) Location plan received 15 October 2020  
(v) Aerial photograph and site plan (Drawing No. 2064-04) received 7 December 2020 

 
 
 
The reasons for the conditions are: - 
 
1. To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development. 
 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



WARD : 
 

Denbigh Lower 
 

WARD MEMBER(S): 
 

Cllr Mark Young (c) 
Cllr Rhys Thomas 
 

APPLICATION NO: 
 

01/2020/0832/ PF 

PROPOSAL: 
 

Extensions and alterations to existing dwelling (amended 
scheme) 
 

LOCATION: Glanrafon  Brookhouse Road   Denbigh 
 

 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



01/2020/0832
Scale: 1:1250
Printed on: 18/12/2020 at 16:27 PM © Denbighshire County Council

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100023408© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100023408

20 m
100 f t

Page 39



Page 40



P
age 41



P
age 42



P
age 43



P
age 44



P
age 45



P
age 46



P
age 47



P
age 48



 Denise Shaw 
WARD : 
 

Denbigh Lower 
 

WARD MEMBER(S): 
 

Cllr Mark Young (c) 
Cllr Rhys Thomas 
 

APPLICATION NO: 
 

01/2020/0832/ PF 

PROPOSAL: 
 

Extensions and alterations to existing dwelling (amended 
scheme) 
 

LOCATION: Glanrafon  Brookhouse Road   Denbigh 
 

APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs R Davies 
 

CONSTRAINTS: C2 Flood Zone 
 

PUBLICITY 
UNDERTAKEN: 
 

Site Notice - No 
Press Notice - No 
Neighbour letters - Yes 
 

  
REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE: 
Scheme of Delegation Part 2 

 Member request for referral to Committee 
 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES: 

DENBIGH TOWN COUNCIL – No objections. 
 
DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTEES – 
 
County Ecologist – No objection, subject to conditions being imposed to ensure there are no 
negative impacts on protected species or the nature conservation value of the site, and all 
reasonable steps have been taken to maintain and enhance biodiversity as required by Section 6.4 
of Planning Policy Wales, Edition 10. 
 
1) The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the recommendations set 
out in Appendix 2 of the Bat Survey Report, in respect of reasonable avoidance measures for bats.  
 
2) The development must contain provision for roosting bats and nesting birds, in line with 
recommendations made in section 5 of the Bat Survey Report. The number, location and 
specification of these features* should be determined by a suitably qualified ecologist, and shown 
on appropriate plans and drawings. The updated plans should be submitted to the LPA for approval 
and the approved measures shall be implemented in full.   
 
3) An external lighting/internal light spillage scheme, designed to avoid negative impacts on 
bats, must be submitted and approved in writing by the LPA. This should follow the guidance set 
out in Guidance Note 08/18 Bats and artificial lighting in the UK (2018) Bat conservation Trust & 
The Institute for Lighting Professionals. A warm white spectrum (ideally <2700Kelvin) should be 
adopted to reduce blue light component. Luminaires should feature peak wavelengths higher than 
550nm to avoid the component of light most disturbing to bats. The approved measures shall be 
implemented in full.  

 
 
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY: No representations received. 

 

Page 49



EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION:   20/12/2020 
 
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):  

 awaiting consideration by Committee 
 

PLANNING ASSESSMENT: 
1. THE PROPOSAL: 

1.1 Summary of proposals 
1.1.1 The proposal is for extensions and alterations to the dwelling which is a submitted as an 

amended scheme following the grant of consent in 2019. 
 

1.1.2 The alterations to the existing dwelling are largely the same as the consented scheme, 
with the exception of a new first floor window to the front elevation which has now been 
omitted. 

 
1.1.3 The form of the extension remains the same as the consented scheme, however the 

materials to be applied to the roof and walls of the extension are proposed to be changed.  
 
1.1.4 The consented scheme showed the extension would have a slate pitched roof, rendered 

walls with brick below. The proposal is for the roof of the extension to be finished in 
anthracite grey steel cladding, with anthracite grey cladding to also be applied to the 
walls, with brick below. Anthracite grey is a dark grey colour. 
 

 
1.2 Description of site and surroundings 

1.2.1 The site is occupied by a traditional double fronted two storey detached dwelling with 
white painted brick walls and slate pitched roof set within a large plot on the edge of 
Denbigh.  
 

1.2.2 There is a residential neighbour to the side (south-east). 
 

1.2.3 Photos of the existing house: 
 

 
 
 

1.3 Relevant planning constraints/considerations 
1.3.1 Outside of the Denbigh development boundary defined by the LDP. 

 
1.3.2 Within the green barrier and within a mineral safeguarded area. 

Page 50



 
1.3.3 Site is partially within the C2 flood risk zone (section of front garden only). 

 
 

1.4 Relevant planning history 
1.4.1 Application was refused in 2019 on visual amenity and ecological grounds. The refused 

scheme had steel cladding to roof and walls and was refused in part due to the materials 
proposed. 
 

1.4.2 A revised scheme was then submitted which included minor elevational changes and 
materials for extension were changed to rendered walls and slate roof. 

 
1.4.3 NMA application to change materials was not approved in 2020 as amendments were 

considered to be material. 
 

1.4.4 Current scheme is a further amended proposal. 
 

1.5 Developments/changes since the original submission 
1.5.1 None. 

 
1.6 Other relevant background information 

1.6.1 None. 
 

2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY: 
2.1 01/2019/0627. Extensions and alterations to existing dwelling. Refused 04/09/2019 for the 

following reasons: 
1. It is the opinion of the Local Planning Authority that having regard to the scale, form, design, 
massing and materials, the proposed extensions to the side and rear appear to compete with, 
and dominate the existing dwelling, and the proposal is therefore not considered to be 
subordinate in scale and form or sympathetic to the character and appearance of the original 
dwelling. The proposal is therefore considered to be contrary to criteria  i) and ii) of Policy RD3 
and the advice and guidance contained in the Residential Development Supplementary Planning 
Guidance Note. 
 
2. It is the opinion of the Local Planning Authority that having regard to the natural, scale and 
location of the proposed development, insufficient information has been provided to determine the 
impact of the proposal on protected species including bats and nesting birds. In the absence of 
ecological surveys, it is therefore considered the proposal has not satisfactorily demonstrated the 
proposal would not have a detrimental impact on protected species, and is contrary to 
Denbighshire Local Development Plan Policy VOE 5 and to the advice and guidance contained in 
the Conservation and Enhancement of Biodiversity Supplementary Planning Guidance Note and 
Technical Advice Note (TAN) 5: Nature Conservation and Planning (2009). 
 
 

2.2 01/2019/0995. Extensions and alterations to existing dwelling. Granted 23/12/2019  

2.3 01/2020/0662/ NMA. Amendment to wall materials submitted in relation to application Code No. 
01/2019/0995 (non material amendment). Not approved 01/10/2020 (amendments were 
considered to be material amendment). 

2.4 Proposed front and rear elevation plans for the refused, consented and proposed schemes are 
compared on the following page: 

 

Page 51



Refused 2019 scheme (materials to extension proposed to be dark grey metal cladding to roof and walls 
to be dark grey metal cladding with mixed light grey bricks below): 
 

 
Consented 2019 scheme (materials for proposed extension to be slate to roof and render to walls with 
mixed light grey brick below): 
 

 
 
Current Proposed scheme (materials for extension proposed to be anthracite grey steel cladding to roof 
and walls to be anthracite grey cladding and mixed light grey brick below) 
 
3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE: 

The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be: 
 

3.1 Local Policy/Guidance 
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013) 
Policy RD2 – Green Barrier 
Policy RD3 – Extensions and alterations to existing dwellings 
Policy ASA3 – Parking standards 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance: 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Space Standards 

 
3.2 Government Policy / Guidance 

 Planning Policy Wales Edition 10 December 2018 
 Development Control Manual (2016) 
 
 
 

Page 52



4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS: 
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application, 
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that 
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted development 
plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that material 
considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in the public 
interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.  
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design and 
appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).  
 
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 10 (December 
2018) and other relevant legislation. 
 
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to the policies of the Denbighshire 
Local Development Plan, and to the material planning considerations which are considered to be of 
relevance to the proposal. 
 
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be: 
 

4.1.1 Principle 
4.1.2 Visual amenity 
4.1.3 Residential amenity 
4.1.4 Ecology 

 
Other matters 
 

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations: 
4.2.1 Principle 

Policy RD 2 relates to Green Barriers and is intended to reinforce the separation of 
neighbouring settlements, and to preserve the character of historic towns. Within these 
areas development will only be permitted provided that the open character and 
appearance of the land is not prejudiced. 
Policy RD 3 relates specifically to the extension and alteration of existing dwellings, and 
states that these will be supported subject to compliance with detailed criteria 
The Residential Development SPG offers basic advice on the principles to be adopted 
when designing domestic extensions and related developments.  
 
The site is located within the green barrier, however the site is an existing dwelling and 
the proposed extensions would be contained within the existing residential curtilage, and 
as such the proposal would not affect the open character and appearance of the green 
barrier. 
 
The principle of appropriate extensions and alterations to existing dwellings is therefore 
acceptable. The assessment of the specific impacts of the development proposed is set 
out in the following sections. 
 

4.2.2 Visual Amenity 
Criteria i) of Policy RD 3 requires the scale and form of the proposed extension or 
alteration to be subordinate to the original dwelling, or the dwelling as it was 20 years 
before the planning application is made.  
Criteria ii) of Policy RD 3 requires that a proposal is sympathetic in design, scale, 
massing and materials to the character and appearance of the existing building.  
Criteria iii) of Policy RD3 requires that a proposal does not represent an overdevelopment 
of the site. 
 

Page 53



The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, and 
can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the means of 
access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the neighbourhood and on the 
environment; and the effects of a development on, for example, health, public safety and 
crime. The visual amenity and landscape impacts of development should therefore be 
regarded as a potential material consideration. 

 
There are no representations raising visual amenity issues. 

 
The proposal is an amendment to a previously approved scheme, with the amendments 
being limited to changes to the materials to be applied to the roof and walls of the 
extension. 

 
The planning history is of relevance to the assessment of visual impacts. 
 
The existing dwelling is a traditional attractive double fronted detached property with 
painted brick walls and slate roof. 
 
As detailed in section 2 above, a previous scheme was refused in 2019 on visual amenity 
grounds, which was in part refused due to the proposed use of steel cladding to the roof 
and walls as it was not considered to be sympathetic to the character and appearance of 
the existing dwelling. 
 
An amended scheme was subsequently submitted which changed the materials to be 
applied to the roof of the extension to slate tiles, and wall materials were proposed to be 
render, with brick below. The use of slate tiles to the roof and render to the walls was 
considered to be more reflective of the traditional character of the dwelling and rural 
setting of the site, and the amended scheme was therefore consented. 
 
The current proposal is for anthracite grey steel cladding to be applied to the roof and 
walls with brick below, which is very similar to the finish proposed in the refused scheme. 

 
Officers therefore do not consider the use of anthracite grey steel cladding to the roof and 
walls of the extension is sympathetic to the character and appearance of the original 
dwelling, and therefore consider the proposal to be contrary to RD3 ii) and the advice and 
guidance contained in the Residential Development SPG. 
 

4.2.3 Residential Amenity 
Criteria iii) of Policy RD 3 requires that a proposal does not represent an 
overdevelopment of the site.  
 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, and 
can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the means of 
access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the neighbourhood and on the 
environment; and the effects of a development on, for example, health, public safety and 
crime. The residential amenity impacts of development should therefore be regarded as a 
potential material consideration. 
The impact of the proposals on visual amenity is therefore a basic test in the policies of 
the development plan. 
 
The Residential Development SPG states that no more than 75% of a residential property 
should be covered by buildings.  
 

Page 54



The Residential Space Standards SPG specifies that 40m2 of private external amenity 
space should be provided as a minimum standard for residential dwellings. 
 
There are no representations raising residential amenity issues. 
 
The proposal is an amendment to a consented scheme. The form of the extension 
however remains the same and no alterations are proposed to any windows which may 
face towards the neighbouring dwelling. 

 
Whilst the rear extension is large, it is set back from the shared boundary and owing to 
the separation distances between the proposed extension and the neighbouring property, 
the proposal would not be of a scale which could be considered to be overbearing and 
nor would it result in any unacceptable level of overshadowing of the neighbouring 
property or garden.  
 
The alterations to the materials are not considered to give rise to any different impacts on 
the neighbour compared to the consented scheme 

 
Having regard to the scale, location and design of the proposed development, it is 
considered that the proposals would not have an unacceptable impact on residential 
amenity, and would therefore be in general compliance with the tests of the policies 
referred to. 

 
4.2.4 Ecology 

Policy VOE 5 requires due assessment of potential impacts on protected species or 
designated sites of nature conservation, including mitigation proposals, and suggests that 
permission should not be granted where proposals are likely to cause significant harm to 
such interests.  
 
This reflects policy and guidance in Planning Policy Wales (Section 6.4), current 
legislation and the Conservation and Enhancement of Biodiversity SPG, which stress the 
importance of the planning system in meeting biodiversity objectives through promoting 
approaches to development which create new opportunities to enhance biodiversity, 
prevent biodiversity losses, or compensate for losses where damage is unavoidable.  
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW) 10 sets out that “planning authorities must seek to maintain 
and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of their functions. This means that development 
should not cause any significant loss of habitats or populations of species, locally or 
nationally and must provide a net benefit for biodiversity” (para 6.4.5 refers). PPW also 
draws attention to the contents of Section 6 of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, which 
sets a duty on Local Planning Authorities to demonstrate they have taken all reasonable 
steps to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of their functions. It is 
important that biodiversity and resilience considerations are taken into account at an early 
stage when considering development proposals (6.4.4). 
 
A protected species survey has been submitted with the application. 
 
Ecology Officer has recommended conditions are required to be imposed to ensure there 
are no negative impacts on protected species or the nature conservation value of the site. 
 
Subject to conditions being applied, Officers would therefore conclude proposal would not 
adversely impact on ecological interests and would be in general compliance with the 
conditions above. 
 
 

Page 55



Other matters 
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the Council not only 
to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable steps in exercising its functions 
to meet its sustainable development (or well-being) objectives. The Act sets a requirement to 
demonstrate in relation to each application determined, how the development complies with the 
Act. 
 
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3 ‘Well-being 
duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development Principles’ of the Well-
being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The recommendation is made in accordance with 
the Act’s sustainable development principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments 
well-being objective of supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore 
considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of 
well-being objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.  

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS: 
5.1 Having regard to the detailing of the proposals, the amended scheme is not considered to be 

sympathetic to the character and appearance of the original dwelling and the proposal is 
therefore recommended for refusal. 

 
RECOMMENDATION: REFUSE TO GRANT PERMISSION for the following reason: 
 

1.  It is the opinion of the Local Planning Authority that, having regard to the external roof and wall 
materials proposed to the applied to the two storey extension, the proposal would not be 
sympathetic to the character and appearance of the original dwelling and is therefore contrary to 
Local Development Plan Policy RD3 ii) and the advice and guidance contained in the Residential 
Development Supplementary Planning Guidance Note. 

 
 

Page 56



WARD : 
 

Trefnant 
 

WARD MEMBER(S): 
 

Cllr Meirick Lloyd- Davies  

APPLICATION NO: 
 

31/2020/0338/ PF 

PROPOSAL: 
 

Erection of 3 affordable dwellings and 1 open market dwelling 
with a detached double garage. Formation of 2 vehicular 
accesses and visibility splays, Provision of associated car 
parking, landscaping and the Iistallation of 2 package treatment 
Plants, a ground source heat pump and rainwater harvesting 
system 
 

LOCATION: Land Adjoining Marllwyn   Groesffordd Marli  Abergele  
 

 

Page 57

Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank



31/2020/0338
Scale: 1:2500
Printed on: 18/12/2020 at 17:07 PM © Denbighshire County Council

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100023408© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100023408

50 m
100 f t

Page 59



Page 60



Study

Plant

Utility

WC

En-suite

Dressing

Bedroom

Lobby

Lounge

Kitchen

Dining

G R O U N D   F L O O R   P L A N 

Master Bedroom

Dressing

En-suite

st

Dressing

En-suite
Bedroom

F I R S T   F L O O R   P L A N 

R E A R   E L E V A T I O N S I D E   E L E V A T I O N 

Boot Room

PLA
NSC

APE

Print @ A2 = Scale: 1.100

ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN CONSULTANTS

Client:

Job Description:

Scale: Date:

Drawing Number: Revision:

PLANSCAPE
LYCHGATE HOUSE . 1 ST MARYS COURT . WHITFORD ROAD
WHITFORD . FLINTSHIRE . CH8 9AG

e.mail: lester@planscape.org.uk  .  Telephone: 01745 560083   .   Mobile: 07775 877719

Location:

Mr and Mrs P Salt

Proposed New Market Dwelling and Detached

Land Adjacent to Marllwyn
Groesffordd Marli, Abergele
Conwy, LL22 9DS

1:100 5 December 2019

M.1389 / 4

EXTERNAL MATERIALS:

WALLS:
External cavity blockwork walls to be finished
with K-Rend or similar, coloured render.
Colour: Ice White.
Timber cladding to be fixed to external leaf.
Cladding - Burnt Ash - Colour: Dark Grey.

ROOF:
Standing seam metal roofing sheets.
Colour: Anthracite Grey.

WINDOWS:
Powder coated aluminium.
Colour: Anthracite Grey.

DOORS:
Powder coated aluminium frames.
Colour: Anthracite Grey.
Composite door with timber face.

S I D E   E L E V A T I O N 

F R O N T   E L E V A T I O N 

Double Garage. Installation of 1No. Private
Treatment Plant and Formation on New
Vehicular Access.

SUSTAINABILITY MEASURES:

SOLAR PANELS:
In-roof solar panels fitted to main roof.

AIR SOURCE HEAT PUMP:
Heat pump and thermal store to provide
primary heating source.

RAIN WATER HARVESTING SYSTEM:
Aquawiser Domestic Direct Rainwater
System to be installed to store rain water
from roofs for re-use.

DRAINAGE MEASURES:

FOUL WASTE WATER:
Foul water to discharge to Private Treatment
Plant.
Klargester BioTec 1 System

SURFACE WATER:
To discharge to rain water harvesting system
with overflow to soakaway.

w

w

w

w

w

w
w

w

w

w

w

w

w

w

w

w

D

D

D

D
D

w

B

REVISIONS:
A. 18/05/2020

Doors and Windows indicated

Vaulted ceiling over Dining AreaVaulted ceiling over Lounge

B. 10/06/2020
Vaulted  ceilings indicated together with
windows serving that space at high level.

Type: Viridian Solar - Model PV16.

Manufactures details added for solor panels.

P
age 61



P
age 62



FRONT ELEVATION

REAR ELEVATION

GROUND FLOOR PLAN

SIDE ELEVATION SIDE ELEVATION

BOILER BOILER

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

1

2

3

4

4

5

5

6

6

7

7

8

8

9

9

10

11

123

10

11

12

FIRST FLOOR PLAN

S&VP
S&VP13

12

11

10

9

8

7

6

PL
A

N
SC

A
PE

 A
R

C
H

IT
EC

TU
R

AL
 D

ES
IG

N
 C

O
N

SU
LT

AN
TS

18000

90
40

2366,7 4056,6 5203,4 3386,8 2986,6

22
87

,2

Kitchen

Eating Area

WC

Hall

Living Room

Living Room

Shower Room

Kitchen

Eating

Hall

Living Room

Kitchen

Eating

Hall

WC

Bedroom 1En suite

Bath

Bedroom 2

Bedroom 3

Bedroom 1 Bedroom 1

Bedroom 2 Bedroom 2Bedroom 3
Bedroom 3

Bath Bath

En suite

ARCHITECTURAL DESIGN CONSULTANTS

Client:

Job Description:

Scale: Date:

Drawing Number: Revision:

PLANSCAPE
LYCHGATE HOUSE . 1 ST MARYS COURT . WHITFORD ROAD
WHITFORD . FLINTSHIRE . CH8 9AG

Tel: 01745 560083     Mobile: 07775 877719    e.mail: lester@planscape.org.uk

Mr & Mrs P Salt

Erection of 3 No. Affordable Homes and
Construction of New Vehicular Access and

Location:

Land Adjacent to Marllwyn.

1:100  8 Nov. 2018

M.1389 / 2

Groesfordd Marli, Abergele, Conwy, LL22 9DS

EXTERNAL MATERIALS:
WALLS:
Cavity external walls finished with K-Rend
coloured render.
Colour: Ice White.

ROOF:
Natural slate with matching ridge.

DOORS AND WINDOWS:
Powder coated aluminium -
Colour: Anthracite Grey.

Installation of 1 No. Private Treatment Plant.

B

REVISIONS:
A. 18/05/2020

Window sizes amended on floor plans
and elevations.

ROOF PLAN

Roof Plan added.

B. 22/10/2020
Roof pitch reduced.

P
age 63



P
age 64



Eitem Agenda 7 / Agenda Item 7

P
age 65



P
age 66



Eitem Agenda 7 / Agenda Item 7

P
age 67



P
age 68



Eitem Agenda 7 / Agenda Item 7

P
age 69



P
age 70



Eitem Agenda 7 / Agenda Item 7

P
age 71



P
age 72



Eitem Agenda 7 / Agenda Item 7

P
age 73



P
age 74



Eitem Agenda 7 / Agenda Item 7

P
age 75



P
age 76



Eitem Agenda 7 / Agenda Item 7

P
age 77



P
age 78



Eitem Agenda 7 / Agenda Item 7

P
age 79



P
age 80



Eitem Agenda 7 / Agenda Item 7

P
age 81



P
age 82



 Luci Duncalf 
WARD : 
 

Trefnant 
 

WARD MEMBER(S): 
 

Cllr Meirick Lloyd- Davies  

APPLICATION NO: 
 

31/2020/0338/ PF 

PROPOSAL: 
 

Erection of 3 affordable dwellings and 1 open market dwelling 
with a detached double garage. Formation of 2 vehicular 
accesses and visibility splays, Provision of associated car 
parking, landscaping and the Iistallation of 2 package treatment 
Plants, a ground source heat pump and rainwater harvesting 
system 
 

LOCATION: Land Adjoining Marllwyn   Groesffordd Marli  Abergele  
 

APPLICANT: Mr & Mrs Salt 
 

CONSTRAINTS: Area of Search of Hamlets (BSC6) 
 

PUBLICITY 
UNDERTAKEN: 
 

Site Notice - Yes 
Press Notice - No 
Neighbour letters - Yes 
 

  
REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE: 
Scheme of Delegation Part 2 
 

 Member request for referral to Committee 
 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES: 
TREFNANT COMMUNITY COUNCIL-  
“Objection for the following reasons: 

1. No evidence of local needs requirement and no market valuation supplied on the 
affordable housing. 

2. Additional traffic of the access narrow highway is unacceptable. 
3. The site is too close to the Cefn Meiriadog Primary School which is unacceptable with the 

additional traffic and no parking/passing places on site 
4. Out of character with the surrounding properties’ 

 
NATURAL RESOURCES WALES- 
Concerns with the proposal and recommend that the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal is 
included within the condition identifying approved plans and documents on any decision notice. 
 
DWR CYMRU / WELSH WATER-  
The proposed development site is crossed by a 90mm clean public watermain with its 
approximate position being marked on the attached Statutory Public Watermain Record.  Under 
Section 159 of the Water Industry Act 1991, Dwr Cymru Welsh Water has rights of access to its 
apparatus at all times, and as such would require an easement of 3m either side of the 
centreline of the watermain.  Should the proposed development be located within the protection 
zones of the watermain crossing, there would be a requirement to divert the public watermain, 
which can be applied for under Section 185 of the Water Industry Act 1991. 
As the applicant intends utilising a private treatment works we would advise that the applicant 
contacts Natural Resources Wales who may have an input in the regulation of this method of 
drainage disposal. 
 
WALES AND WEST UTILITIES LTD-  
No apparatus in the area of enquiry but other GT’s pipes or other privately owned pipes may be 
present in the area and information should be obtained from the owner.  
 

Page 83



OPENREACH (TELECOMMUNICATIONS)-  
No response received. 
 
DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTEES – 
- Strategic Housing & Policy Officer- 

Not supported. New market housing in Groesffordd Mali is not permitted and is not in 
compliance with Denbighshire’s Local Development Plan 2006 – 2021.  
 
In relation to the proposed affordable dwellings the application has not provided evidence 
in support of their proposals of their local connections or where they intend to reside. The 
requirements of policy BSC 6 and the supporting SPG have not been met.  
i) There is no evidence of identifiable need for affordable housing; and  
There is no supporting evidence to:-  
ii) indicate that the applicant is a future occupier of the properties; and iii) prove a local 
connection to the area; and  
iv) Justify the financial need for an affordable home.  
  
 

- Highways Officer-  
Market dwelling site-  
The market dwelling site benefits from an existing field access which is well established. 
Movements to and from the dwelling are likely to be low and due to the narrow nature of 
the country lane traffic speeds are also likely to be well below the speed limit. Although the 
visibility splays shown on the layout plan are not in accordance with visibility requirements 
of TAN18, the applicant is proposing considerable improvements to visibility splays at an 
existing access. 
 
Affordable dwelling site-  
The visibility splay shown on the layout plan is for an access onto a 30mph zone. The 
location of the proposed access is outside the 30mph zone and in accordance with the 
guidance provided in TAN18 the visibility requirements are 215m. While the traffic speeds 
are likely to be significantly less than the national speed limit at this location, the applicant 
may wish to provide evidence to this in the form of a speed survey. Proposed driveway 
levels and gradients are not shown on the layout plan. The existing site falls towards the 
existing highway and as such we would request the gradient of the access shall not 
exceed 4% over the first 10m outside the public road boundary. This is to try and prevent 
vehicles being unable to stop in icy conditions. 
 
The layouts for both developments are indicating parking and turning can be provide within 
the site which will not lead to any additional parking on the highway. While there will be a 
slight increase in the volume of traffic due to the proposed developments, we do not feel 
this would significantly impact highway safety. 
 

- Public Protection Officer –  
No comments received. 

          
- County Ecologist-  
Awaiting formal response. However, informal concerns have been raised regarding the 
methods of Great Crested Newt avoidance and mitigation explaining that they were not in line 
with good practice guidance.  

 
- Drainage Officer-  

SAB approval required. 
 
RECONSULTATION RESPONSES: 

Submission of speed survey, revised plans and planning support statement. 
 

TREFNANT COMMUNITY COUNCIL-  
“Objection for the following reasons: 

Page 84



1. No evidence of local needs requirement and no market valuation supplied on the 
affordable housing. 

2. Additional traffic of the access narrow highway is unacceptable. 
3. The site is too close to the Cefn Meiriadog Primary School which is unacceptable with the 

additional traffic and no parking/passing places on site 
4. Out of character with the surrounding properties’ 
 
 
DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTEES – 
 

- Local Housing Strategy Officer-  
The Tai Teg Register shows there is demand for 2 x 3 bedroom houses in the 
neighbouring hamlet of Cefn Meiriadog as intermediate rental, which is in the same ward, 
but there are no applicants for Groesfordd Marli itself.  There was no one on the social 
housing list at all who had asked for Cefn Meiriadog/Groesfordd Marli as a first choice 
area. This indicates that demand for the hamlet is very low. 
 
The hamlets policy is quite clear that speculative building in the area is not allowed by the 
policy (market housing in hamlets is not permitted at all) and developers have to establish 
there is an identified need for affordable housing. Our policy is explicit in stating that 
‘Applicants will be required to provide evidence in support of the proposed occupant’s local 
connection, accommodation need and financial eligibility’. Although the applicant’s state 
there is a need in the hamlet, they have provided no evidence to support it. Details of the 
proposed occupants are required under the policy. 
 
Registered Social Landlords would not be interested in taking on these properties without 
the provision of grant, as they feel demand is too low and the risk of occupancy voids 
which would cost them money to be too great. 
 
Without the details of the proposed occupants for the affordable dwellings Strategic 
Housing & Planning could not support the application as it essentially a speculative build, 
which under the hamlets policy is not permitted. Building in hamlets is for an identified 
need to ensure the sustainability of the community, this has not been proven in their 
proposal, a speculative build of 3 affordable houses for the area does run the risk of 
defaulting to market housing if the proposed occupants are not clearly identified and satisfy 
income and housing need criteria. 

 
 
Highways- 

Market dwelling site-  
Same comments as previous. 
 
Affordable dwelling site-  
On request of the Highways Authority, the applicant has provided evidence in the form of a 
7 day average speed limit at the location of the proposed access. The 7 day average 
speed limit has been shown to be 27mph at 85th percentile speed. The applicant is 
providing visibility splays of 40m at the point of access. The proposed site access 
arrangements demonstrate compliance with the visibility standards set out in Annex B TAN 
18 and are therefore considered to be acceptable. 

 
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY: 

 
In objection 
Representations received from: 
 
Mrs J M Lloyd Polley, Tal y Graig, Groesffordd Marli  
Mr R C Polley, Tal y Graig, Groesffordd Marli  
Robin Barlow, Carreg Dafydd, Groesffordd Marli  
Martin Barlow, 5 Maes Robert, Cefn, St Asaph 
Lois Williams, Groesffordd Farm, Groesffordd Marli 

Page 85



Durand Hotham, Plas Newydd, Groesffordd Marli 
 
Summary of planning based representations in objection: 
Visual amenity- 
- Market dwelling 
Impact on the character of the rural setting 
Scale and type of dwelling lacks any architectural merit. 
Overbearing impact given its scale 
Design, appearance and materials are out of keeping with the surrounding area  
Ice white smooth render is out of keeping with existing development in the area 
Removal of the hedge will impact on the visual amenity of the area 
 
- Affordable dwellings 
Design of the affordable dwellings is out of character for a rural setting and will be dominant on 
the hillside in a prominent visual position. 
Not clear how dwellings will be set into the hillside as the bank is very steep 
Ice white smooth render is out of keeping with existing development in the area 
Removal of hedgerow will erode the rural character of the area 
 
Highways 
Impacts to highways safety and proximity to the local school as the road is already narrow and 
can be congested at school times. Additional vehicles will aggravate the problem. 
No public transport in the area with the nearest bus stop being 1 1/2 miles away 
Access to market dwelling is a safety concern as it is by 2 blind bends 
 
Ecology 
Removal of a large section of hedge which will affect wildlife habitat 
Open countryside location and impact on bats by noise and lighting disturbance 
 
Residential 
Noise and traffic impacting local residents by increased number of new dwellings 
 
Drainage 
The affordable dwellings are located on the site where there are existing soakaways 
Removal of the hedgerow and excavation works where the mains water drain is sited, would 
impact water pipe  
 
Principle of affordable dwellings 
There is a lack of evidence for the need for affordable dwellings in the locality 
 
 
In support 
Luci Salt, 37 NV Building, 96 The Quays, Salford Quays, Manchester 
Sandy Woodward, Ffynnon Wen, Moelfre 
Mrs A Hodgson, Groesffordd Farm, Lloc, Holywell 
Kelly Parry- Jones, Y Wern, Groesffordd Marli 
 
Summary of planning based representations in support: 
No affordable homes in the village to meet the need 
No affordable homes for young people to return to village 
Proposal will support local planning policies and secure the future of the village 
 
 

EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 31/08/2020    
 
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED? Yes 15/01/2021 
 
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):  
 

 additional information required from applicant 

Page 86



 protracted negotiations resulting in amended plans 
 re-consultations / further publicity necessary on amended plans and / or additional 

information 
 awaiting consideration by Committee 

 
PLANNING ASSESSMENT: 
1. THE PROPOSAL: 

1.1 Summary of proposals 
1.1.1 The application seeks permission for the erection of 3 affordable dwellings and 1 

open market dwelling at land adjacent to Marllwyn, Groesffordd Marli. 
 

1.1.2 The proposed open market dwelling would be located on an agricultural field to the 
east of Marllwyn and would utilise an existing field access. It is proposed to have a 
detached double garage and a package treatment plant, ground source heat pump 
and rainwater harvesting system installed. 

 
1.1.3 The market dwelling would have a footprint of approximately 97sqm and would be 

formed by three main sections connected by glazed links. It is proposed to have a 
large driveway to the front with a central landscaped area. The garden area to the 
rear would be L-Shaped and would wrap around the rear boundary of Marllwyn 
separated by a post and rail fence to the west boundary and a 1.8m high feathered 
edge timber fence to the north boundary. 

 

 
Proposed front elevation 
 

1.1.4 The largest section to the east of the site would have an asymmetric roof with a 
ridge height of 6.35m and an eave height of 4m. It would comprise a lobby with 
study area a bedroom with dressing area and en suite and a separate WC and 
utility. A staircase is proposed off the lobby to the first floor which would have the 
master bedroom with en suite and an additional en suite bedroom. 

 
1.1.5 The middle section would have a pitched roof and a ridge height of 4.3m with an 

eave height of 2.5m. It would comprise a lounge with a vaulted ceiling and the end 
section would form a kitchen, dining with vaulted ceiling and boot room to the front. 

 
1.1.6 The proposed detached double garage would measure 6.5m x 6.5m and would 

have a pitched roof with a height of 5.4m and an eave height of 2.2m. It is 
proposed to be located to the northwest corner of the site. It is proposed to have a 
dormer window to the side elevation and a side access door. It is proposed to be 
clad in timber to the front elevation and partly timber to the side elevations with 
white render to the rest. The roof is proposed to be standing seam metal roofing 
sheets in anthracite grey. 

  
1.1.7 The materials of the proposed market dwelling would include white render with 

vertical timber birch cladding in dark grey to certain sections.  
 

Page 87



1.1.8 A widened access is proposed including the removal of approximately 45m of an 
existing 1.8m high mature hedge which runs parallel to the road and replacement 
foliage is to be planted off the boundary with grass to the front up to the road to 
improve visibility. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Existing access with hedge   
       Proposed new access with hedge removal 
 

 
1.1.9 The application includes the erection of a terrace of 3, two storey, affordable, 3 bed 

units on land to the north east of Marllwyn. The dwellings would have a driveway 
and parking for 2 vehicles down the east side of the terrace and 4 vehicles to the 
east corner of the site. The gardens would be located to the rear with bin storage. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Proposed front elevation 
 

1.1.10 The first dwelling to the east of the site would have a footprint of approximately 
56.7sqm and would have a two storey gable to the front. It would comprise a hall 
with separate living room and kitchen/diner and bathroom to the ground floor and 
three bedrooms to the first floor including one en-suite master and separate 
bathroom.  

 
1.1.11 The middle dwelling would have a footprint of 46.8sqm and would be accessed 

from the front under a canopy formed by the single storey front extension. It would 
comprise a hall with kitchen/diner, shower room and living room to the rear. The 
first floor would have 3 bedrooms and a family bathroom. 

 

Page 88



1.1.12 The west dwelling would have a footprint of 55.8m and would be accessed to the 
side of the single storey front gable extension and would comprise a hall 
kitchen/diner and separate lounge to the rear and downstairs bathroom. The first 
floor would comprise 3 bedrooms including en-suite master bedroom and family 
bathroom. 

 
1.1.13 The new proposed access is from the road to the north of the site which would 

involve the removal of some 40m of hedgerow. It is proposed that new native 
hedge will be planted along the visibility line with the verge to be grass. 4 additional 
trees are to be planted on the site. The existing post and wire fence to the west 
and southern boundaries are to be replaced by 1.8m high timber feathered edge 
fencing. 

 
1.1.14 The materials of the terraced dwellings would include white render with slate roof 

and anthracite grey windows and doors. 
 

1.2 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application 
1.2.1 Cover letter/Planning Statement, various Ecological Surveys, specifications for air 
 source heat pump, rainwater harvesting, solar panels and package treatment plant. 
 

1.3 Description of site and surroundings 
1.3.1 The proposed new market dwelling is located to the north side of a narrow lane 

and is within an open field with woodland to the eastern boundary. The site is in an 
elevated position on the hillside with panoramic views of the vale to the north and 
north east. 

 
1.3.2 The proposed 3 affordable dwellings are located on land opposite the village 

school off a narrow country lane bounded on each side by a tall mature hedge. The 
terraced dwellings would also be in an elevated position with the nearest 
residential neighbour located approximately 30m to the west of the site. 
 

1.4 Relevant planning constraints/considerations 
1.4.1 The sites are both located outside of any defined development boundary described 

in the LDP.  
 

1.4.2 The sites are within the Area of Search of Hamlets (BSC6) on greenfield land. 
 

1.4.3 The majority of the site falls within Class 2 of the Agricultural Land Classification 
system that constitutes the best and most versatile (BMV) agricultural land.  
 

1.4.4 The site for the market dwelling abuts ancient semi natural woodland at Coed Plas 
Newydd and Plas Newydd quarry. 
 

1.5 Relevant planning history 
1.5.1 Previous refusal of permission from early 1992 for the erection of a dwelling on the 

adjacent land to the north of Marllwyn. 
 

1.5.2 Another refusal of permission was issued by the Council in 2001 for the site to the 
north of Marllwyn which was appealed and dismissed by the Inspectorate in 2002 
 

1.5.3 Previous refusal of permission for a dwelling on land to the south adjacent to 
Marllwyn in 1996 and refused by the Council. This was appealed and dismissed by 
the Inspectorate in 1997.  
 
 

1.6 Developments/changes since the original submission 
1.6.1 None. 

 
 
 

Page 89



       1.7 Other relevant background information 
1.7.1 None. 

 
2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY: 

Site to the north east of Marllwyn (affordable dwellings application site) 
1/14243/O Erection of dwelling, means of access and septic tank, REFUSED 13/02/1992 
Reasons: 

1. The proposal conflicts with policies RH1, RH2, RH3 and RH5 of the Draft Rural 
Colwyn Local Plan and Policies B4, B6 and B8 of the Clwyd County Structure Plan as 
the site lies on the edge of the minor settlement of Groesffordd- Marli. Where there is 
a general presumption against new housing development unless it is required to meet 
a local housing need or for a person engaged full time in agriculture or forestry and a 
location in the countryside is essential for the efficient working of the farm or 
woodland. Insufficient evidence has been advanced in this case to warrant a 
departure from the general presumption against development.  
 

2. The site frontage is of insufficient width to allow for the formation of a suitably 
constructed access inclusive of visibility splays: the proposal would be detrimental to 
highways safety and therefore conflicts with Policy RG1 of the Draft Rural Colwyn 
Local Plan. 

 
Site to the south of Marllwyn (market dwelling application site) 

 31/0705/96/PO Residential development of 0.1ha of land by the erection of 1 no. dwelling and 
 new vehicular access/ pedestrian access- REFUSED 22/10/1996  

Reasons: 
1. The proposal conflicts with Policies CH9 and CH10 of the Colwyn Borough Local Plan 

and Policies B6 and B8 of the Clwyd Structure Plan. The site lies on the edge of the 
minor settlement of Groesffordd Marli where there is a general presumption against 
new housing development unless it is required to meet a local housing need or for a 
person engaged full-time in agriculture or forestry. Insufficient evidence has been 
advanced in this case to warrant a departure from the general presumption against 
development and the proposal would not represent rounding off or infilling within the 
settlement. 
 

2. The proposal would result in an encroachment of built development into the open 
countryside within the Special Landscape Area to the detriment of the character and 
appearance of the landscape and in conflict with Policy H5 of the Clwyd Structure 
Plan. 
 

3. It appears impracticable within the curtilage of the site to construct an access onto the 
highway which would provide sufficient visibility for vehicles emerging from the site to 
the detriment of the safety of all highway uses. 
 
This decision was appealed and the appeal was DISMISSED by the Inspectorate on 
11/04/1997, ref. APP/R6830/A/96/510228/T 
Conclusion: 
The proposal is not in accord with policy B6 as it is not considered to be a ‘rounding-
off site’. The site lies within a Special Landscape Area and a dwelling on this site 
would be a prominent intrusion into this landscape unacceptably detrimental to the 
character and appearance of the area. The circumstances provided do not override 
the development plan policies and national planning guidance. The proposal does not 
provide adequate long term availability of the property for local persons but more 
fundamentally it does not overcome the planning objections to the proposal. 
 
 

Site to the north east of Marllwyn (affordable dwellings application site) 
1/14446/O Erection of bungalow, construction of access and septic tank, REFUSED 
16/04/1992 
Reason:  

Page 90



1. The proposal conflicts with Policies RH1, RH2 and RH5 of the Draft Rural Colwyn 
Local Plan and Policies B4, B6 and B8 of the Clwyd County Structure Plan as the site 
lies on the edge of the minor settlement of Groesffordd- Marli. Where there is a 
general presumption against new housing development unless it is required to meet a 
local housing need or for a person engaged full time in agriculture or forestry and a 
location in the countryside is essential for the efficient working of the farm or 
woodland. Insufficient evidence has been advanced in this case to warrant a 
departure from the general presumption against development. 

 
31/389/97/PF Erection of two storey and single storey pitched roof extensions to side and rear 
of dwelling- GRANTED 5/06/1997 
 
31/2000/0017/PF Extension to existing stable/store to form double garage, GRANTED 
29/02/2000 

 
 Site to the north of Marllwyn 

31/2001/0503/PO Development of 0.09ha of land by the erection of 1 No. dwelling  
 and construction of new vehicular access, REFUSED 10/09/2001  

 Reason: 
1. The proposal does not comprise the infilling of a gap between buildings within a 

continuously developed frontage or within a group of 6 or more dwellings, resulting in 
a cramped form of development not compatible in scale, character and size to the 
surrounding properties contrary to the criteria of Policy HSG5 of the Denbighshire 
County Council Unitary Development Plan. 

 
This decision was appealed and the appeal was DISMISSED by the Inspectorate on 
07/03/2002. 
Conclusion: 
The proposed development would be unacceptably harmful to the character of the group of 
buildings and of the surrounding rural area and contrary to draft Unitary Development Plan 
Policy HSG5. 
 
Site to the south of Marllwyn (market dwelling application site) 
31/2013/1127 Erection of 1 no. affordable dwelling and alterations to existing access (site 
area 0.24 ha) WITHDRAWN 23/01/2015 
 

3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE: 
The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be: 

 
3.1 Local Policy/Guidance 

Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013) 
  

Policy BSC1 – Growth Strategy for Denbighshire 
Policy BSC3 – Securing infrastructure contributions from Development 
Policy BSC4 – Affordable Housing 
Policy BSC6 – Local connections affordable housing in hamlets 
Policy BSC8 – Rural exception sites 
Policy BSC9 – Local connections affordable housing within small groups or clusters 
Policy BSC11 – Recreation and open space 
Policy VOE5 – Conservation of natural resources 
Policy VOE6 – Water management 
Policy ASA3 – Parking standards 
 

Supplementary Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Access For All 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Affordable Housing  
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Conservation and Enhancement of Biodiversity  
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Parking Requirements In New Developments 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Planning Obligations  
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Recreational Public Open Space  

Page 91



Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development  
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development Design Guide 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Space Standards  
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Trees & Landscaping 
 

3.2 Government Policy / Guidance 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10) December 2018 
Development Control Manual November 2016 
Technical Advice Notes 

 
TAN 1 Joint Housing Land Availability Studies (2015) 
TAN 2 Planning and Affordable Housing (2006) 
TAN 5 Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) 
TAN 6 Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010) 
TAN 12 Design (2016) 
TAN 16 Sport, Recreation and Open Space (2009) 
TAN 18 Transport (2007) 
 
Circulars 
 

3.3 Other material considerations 
 

4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS: 
 

In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application, 
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that 
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted 
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that 
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in 
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.  
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design 
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the 
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).  
 
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 10 (December 
2018) and other relevant legislation. 
 
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to the policies of the 
Denbighshire Local Development Plan, and to the material planning considerations which are 
considered to be of relevance to the proposal. 
 
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be: 
 

4.1.1 Principle 
4.1.2 Visual amenity 
4.1.3 Residential amenity 
4.1.4 Ecology 
4.1.5 Drainage (including flooding) 
4.1.6 Highways (including access and parking) 
4.1.7 Affordable Housing 
4.1.8 Open Space 

 
 

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations: 
4.2.1 Principle 

In terms of the national planning policy context, Planning Policy Wales 10 
(December 2018) paragraph 3.56 states that development in the countryside 
should be located within and adjoining those settlements where it can be best be 
accommodated in terms of infrastructure, access and habitat and landscape 
conservation. It also advises that new building in the open countryside away from 

Page 92



existing settlements or areas allocated for development in development plans must 
continue to be strictly controlled. All new development should be of a scale and 
design that respects the character of the surrounding area. 
 
As the proposal involves two elements, each will be referred to in turn in the 
following paragraphs. 

 
Proposal for a market dwelling on the site adjacent to Marllwyn 
The main policy in the LDP which is relevant to the principle of housing 
development is policy BSC1. This policy seeks to make provision for new housing 
in a range of sustainable locations, by concentrating development within identified 
development boundaries and on allocated sites. The nearest settlement to the site 
is Bodelwyddan approximately 2km to the north, which has been identified as a 
Key Strategic Site to meet the needs of Denbighshire in line with the LDP strategy. 
The Bodelwyddan KSS is a large mixed use site which will deliver new housing, 
employment opportunities, open space and community facilities, creating a 
sustainable, expanded community. However, the site is located outside the 
development boundary.  In line with policy BSC 1 outside of the development 
boundaries rural restraints policies apply to proposals which involve residential 
development.  

 
The LDP sets out some other exceptions to rural restraints policies. As the 
application site is located within a Hamlets Area of Search and Policy BSC6- Local 
connections affordable housing in hamlets will apply. This policy allows for only 
affordable dwellings for local needs to be built within the defined area of search, 
and is fundamentally clear that market dwellings will not be permitted.  

 
Another relevant policy to this application for new residential development in the 
open countryside is LDP Policy BSC 9 ‘Local connections affordable housing 
within small groups or clusters’. This policy permits development of one or two 
units within small groups or clusters, provided that the proposal meets all the 
following criteria:  
i) comprises infilling of a small gap between buildings within a continuously 
developed frontage; and  
ii) does not result in ribbon development or the perpetuation of existing ribbon 
development; and 
iii) is of comparable scale and size to, and is sited so as to respect adjacent 
properties and the locality; and 
iv) satisfactory arrangements can be made to ensure that the dwelling(s) are 
retained in perpetuity as affordable dwelling for local need and this is contained in 
a Section 106 agreement. 

 
This policy acknowledges that under current national planning policy i.e. PPW10, 
in rural areas, it is acceptable to build new housing within or adjacent to groups or 
clusters of existing houses. However, because of their countryside location, 
building plots in such locations tend to have a financial premium which often 
precludes local people from building a home and they are often prevented from 
buying existing rural properties for the same reason. Hence the Council has 
expanded on national policy by adding criteria to its ‘infill’ policy that requires 
applicants to have a connection with the Community Council area in accordance 
with the Council’s Local Connections Policy. Applicants will be assessed against 
the 3 criterion set out in the reasoned justification to Policy BSC8- Rural Exception 
Sites. To ensure that local people can continue to live in rural areas, new housing 
in these locations will be restricted to affordable housing to meet local need. 

 
Owing to the location of the site at the end of a group of houses, it not considered 
that the site satisfies criterion i) of the policy as the site is not the ‘infilling of a small 
gap between buildings within a continuously developed frontage’.  It is considered 
that the development would also fail to meet criterion ii) of the policy as the 
development of a dwelling on the site would perpetuate ribbon development.  

Page 93



 
Finally, criterion iv) of Policy BSC 9 requires that satisfactory arrangements be 
made to secure the property (via section 106 legal agreement) as an affordable 
dwelling for local need in perpetuity. The new dwelling in this location is proposed 
to be a market dwelling, put forward as a sustainable retirement home for the 
current occupants of Marllwyn. 

 
It is therefore considered that the proposal fails to meet the policy requirements of 
the adopted Local Development Plan and is contrary to Policies BSC 1 and BSC6, 
BSC 8 and BSC 9 of the LDP.  

 
 

Proposal for a terrace of 3 affordable dwellings on land to the north east of 
Marllwyn 
Having regard to the part of the application which proposes 3 affordable dwellings 
to be funded by the sale of the current property, Marllwyn, Officers have assessed 
the proposal for 3 affordable dwellings under the relevant LDP Policy BSC 6 - 
Local connections affordable housing in hamlets. 

 
This policy allows for 4 affordable houses to be built in Groesffordd Mali and Cae 
Onnen during the lifetime of the LDP. The policy requires certain criteria to be met: 
i) The proposal would provide an affordable dwelling to meet local needs; and, 
ii) The proposals would help to secure the viability of the local community, and 
strengthen the community and linguistic character; and, 
iii) New housing is located within the defined area of search of the hamlet and 
overall growth levels restricted to that indicated below; and, 
iv) The proposal is in keeping with traditional building styles and is sympathetic in 
design, scale and materials to other traditional buildings in the locality; and,  
v) Satisfactory arrangements are made to ensure the dwelling is retained in 
perpetuity as an affordable dwelling for local need and this is contained in a 
Section 106 agreement. 

 
Additional guidance in provided in the Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) – 
Affordable Housing under paragraphs 5.1, 5.2 and 5.3.  
5.1) All housing development in hamlets must meet local need. Market housing is 
not permitted.  
5.2) Developments are likely to be for single dwellings. Applicants for such 
developments should be future occupants of the proposed dwellings.  
5.3) Occupants will not necessarily need to be registered on a housing waiting list 
but must have a strong local connection to the Community Council area, be in 
unsatisfactory accommodation and also have a financial need for an affordable 
dwelling, in accordance with the Council’s Local Connections Policy (included as 
Appendix 3). Applicants will be required to provide evidence in support of the 
proposed occupant’s local connection, accommodation need and financial 
eligibility.  

 
Meeting local need  
No evidence of identifiable local need for affordable housing in Groesffordd Marli 
has been included in the application.  

 
The Affordable Housing SPG states that ‘applicants will be required to provide 
evidence in support of the proposed occupant’s local connection, accommodation 
need and financial eligibility.’ 

 
No evidence has been provided in the application and the Planning Statement 
contends that affordable housing in hamlets is not likely to come forward in the 
absence of market housing provision which can cross fund such provision and 
confirms that the proposal would secure affordable housing for local needs in 
perpetuity through a Section 106 agreement (S106). Officer’s do not consider that 
cross funding affordable housing with a market dwelling contrary to the Council’s 

Page 94



rural restraints policies, is an acceptable means for securing what is effectively, 
speculative affordable housing provision, particularly when the occupants of the 
future dwellings have not been put forward and so the Council can’t be sure who 
will occupy the dwellings in the future.  

 
Typically, applications for affordable dwellings in hamlets are put forward by the 
people who intend on residing in them and can demonstrate that they are in 
affordable need and have a local connection to the area.  Even if the S106 is 
secured for local needs in perpetuity, this leaves the proposal highly vulnerable to 
becoming market dwellings though the removal of the S106 agreement in the 
future should no future occupiers meeting the criteria come forward. 3 market 
dwellings on the site would not be acceptable in this hamlet location and would be 
against policy. 

 
Conclusion on principle 
New market housing in Groesffordd Marli is not permitted and is not in compliance 
with Denbighshire’s Local Development Plan 2006 – 2021. The erection of 3 
affordable dwellings does not justify the erection of a market dwelling which is 
development contrary to the LDP and national policies seeking to protect 
development in the open countryside. 

 
In relation to the proposed affordable dwellings, whilst they are within the hamlets 
area of search, the application has not provided evidence in support of the future 
occupants of these dwellings or that they have a local connection to the area which 
is a requirement of Policy BSC 6 and the Affordable Housing SPG.  

 
The speculative nature of the 3 affordable dwellings without an established need for 
them in the area, poses a greater risk that they may become market dwellings in 
the future. The LDP aims to control development in the open countryside and 
Officers consider the risk of speculative affordable housing becoming market 
housing outside of development boundaries is too high in this instance. 

 
 

4.2.2 Visual amenity 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime. The visual amenity and landscape impacts 
of development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration. 
 
Representations have been received on visual amenity impacts of both elements of 
the proposal, including the impact to the character of the area.  
 
Market dwelling 
The site is located in the open countryside to the southern side of Marllwyn and 
between an area of ancient woodland to the opposite side. It has an existing 
recessed access and is in an elevated position with unbroken views across to the 
north east towards the Clwydians.    
 
The proposal involves the erection of a detached modern dwelling comprising 3 
separate sections connected by glazed links and finished in timber cladding and 
white render. The size is comparable to the Marllwyn dwelling and is situated on a 
large plot. 
 
Having regard to the representations received regarding the prominent nature of the 
site and the visual impact of the proposal, Officers consider that owing to the location 
of the site at the end of the group of dwellings, the site occupies a prominent position 
in the landscape, particularly when viewed from the lower road to the north. It is 

Page 95



considered that the design and materials proposed would stand out on the hillside 
when viewed from the north and the dwelling would appear as an incongruent 
feature on the hillside as no additional planting is proposed to screen the 
development.  
 
Having regard to the planning history at this site, previous refusal of permissions for 
a new dwelling on the site included reasons relating to the impacts to the character 
of the area. The site is not considered to be infill plot which ‘rounds- off’ a 
development area given the site can be seen from many viewpoints. It is considered 
to result in a prominent and incongruous development set at a higher elevation to 
Marllwyn and when compared to other dwellings in the hamlet which sit more 
sympathetically into their surroundings. 
 
Comments have been received on the impact the removal of a large section of 
hedgerow would have on the character of the area and Officers agree that the 
removal of the corner section of hedgerow to improve the visibility splay of the site 
would have an impact on the rural character of the area, however are of the opinion 
that the replacement hedgerow and planting would go some way to mitigating this 
loss of road side hedgerow given the benefits to the visibility of the already narrow 
lane. 
 
To conclude, Officers consider the visual impacts of the new dwelling would be 
unacceptable in this location and the proposal would be unacceptably harmful to the 
character of the group of buildings and the surrounding rural area by virtue of the 
proposed design and choice of materials which do not respect the traditional 
character of the dwellings in the hamlet. 
 
Market dwellings are not supported within a hamlet area of search as defined by the 
LDP which reinforces the view that the open countryside setting should be retained. 
Hence the development of the site would be harmful to the open character and 
appearance of the area.  
 
Affordable dwellings 
The site is located to the south of a narrow lane used to access the local school. The 
site consists of a sloping field currently used for grazing purposes and is well 
screened by a high mature hedgerow which runs parallel to the lane. It is proposed 
to create a new access off the lane which would involve the removal of 
approximately 40m of hedgerow. 
 
Having regard to the representations received, Officers agree that the proposed 
terrace of 3 dwellings would result in a prominent development on the currently 
undeveloped hillside, despite being set back into the slope slightly. In terms of 
design, Officers consider the proposal is not unacceptable in visual amenity terms, 
however question the form of the terrace which is not a common form of 
development in the hamlet which is characterised by larger detached properties on 
spacious plots. In terms of the materials proposed, Officers do not consider these to 
be unacceptable but agree that they would appear a prominent feature. Appropriate 
landscaping arrangements could be considered as a condition on any decision to 
grant.    
 
The removal of the large section of hedgerow to create a single new access is a 
concern as this is clearly a well-established and mature hedgerow which adds to the 
rural character of the hamlet. The removal of hedgerows is considered to erode the 
rural character of the area and would only serve to emphasise the intrusiveness of 
the development into the rural landscape. However, the removal of 40m to create a 
single access is not considered to be wholly unacceptable given there is 
compensation proposed for additional hedgerow planting inside the visibility splays. 

Page 96



 
 
Section of hedgerow to be removed to create the new access 
 

Having regard to the design, siting, scale, massing and materials of the proposed 
affordable dwellings, in relation to the character and appearance of the area and 
hamlet landscape, it is considered the proposal would not have an unacceptable 
impact on visual amenity with appropriate landscaping arrangements in place.  

 
4.2.3 Residential amenity 

The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime. The residential amenity impacts of 
development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration. 
 
Representations have been received raising residential amenity concerns around 
the noise disturbance and highways traffic concerns given the proximity of the 
affordable dwellings to the school. 
 
Officers consider the two development sites could be accommodated without having 
an adverse impact on existing or proposed occupiers, given the separation distances 
between existing properties and the orientation of the dwellings. The highways 
impacts will be discussed in the Highways section of the report and it is not 
considered that the new dwellings would raise any unacceptable noise concerns. 
 
Having regard to the comments received, the scale, location and design of the 
proposed development, it is considered that the proposals would not have an 
unacceptable impact on residential amenity, and would therefore be in general 
compliance with the tests of the policies referred to 
 

4.2.4 Ecology 
Policy VOE 5 requires due assessment of potential impacts on protected species or 
designated sites of nature conservation, including mitigation proposals, and 
suggests that permission should not be granted where proposals are likely to cause 
significant harm to such interests.  
  
This reflects policy and guidance in Planning Policy Wales (Section 6.4), current 
legislation and SPG 18 – Nature Conservation and Species Protection, which stress 
the importance of the planning system in meeting biodiversity objectives through 

Page 97



promoting approaches to development which create new opportunities to enhance 
biodiversity, prevent biodiversity losses, or compensate for losses where damage is 
unavoidable. Planning Policy Wales also draws attention to the contents of Section 6 
of the Environment (Wales) Act 2016, which sets a duty on Local Planning 
Authorities to demonstrate they have taken all reasonable steps to maintain and 
enhance biodiversity in the exercise of their functions. 
  
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime. The ecological impacts of development 
should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration. 
 
The application is supported by a number of protective species surveys including for 
reptiles, great crested newts, bats, birds and badgers. 
 
Representations have been received raising concerns around the loss of wildlife 
habitat through the removal of the hedgerows. 
 
The County Ecologist has reviewed the ecology reports and raised some concerns 
regarding the Reasonable Avoidance Measures (RAM) for great crested newts. At 
the time of writing, further discussions are taking place on this matter and will be 
reported accordingly on the Late Representation sheets where relevant. 
 
 

4.2.5 Drainage (including flooding) 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime. The drainage and flood risk impacts of 
development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration. 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 10) Section 6.6.9 states ‘The adequacy of water supply 
and the sewage infrastructure should be fully considered when proposing 
development, both as a water service and because of the consequential 
environmental and amenity impacts associated with a lack of capacity’. 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 10) Section 6.6.22 to 6.6.29 identifies flood risk as a 
material consideration in planning and along with TAN 15 – Development and Flood 
Risk, which provides a detailed framework within which risks arising from different 
sources of flooding should be assessed. TAN 15 advises that in areas which are 
defined as being of high flood hazard, development proposals should only be 
considered where: 
• new development can be justified in that location, even though it is likely to 
be at risk from flooding; and  
• the development proposal would not result in the intensification of existing 
development which may itself be at risk; and  
• new development would not increase the potential adverse impacts of a flood 
event   
 
Representations have been received raising concerns regarding the location of the 
affordable dwellings which are on a site where there are existing soakaways. These 
have not been documented on plans as part of the design of the scheme and would 
need to be considered to be relocated within the site. There is no known flood risk at 
the site but it is acknowledged that the development of the site from greenfield land 
may cause surface run off concerns onto the highway and the surface water 

Page 98



drainage needs to be managed appropriately to avoid flooding the road. The 
Drainage Officer has commented on the proposals and as they are for a total of 4 
dwellings, SAB approval will be required from the SuDS Approving Body alongside 
any approval of planning permission. This is covered by separate legislation and will 
be assessed under the SAB application in more detail. 
 
Dwr Cymru Welsh Water have also raised concerns regarding the location of a 
mains water pipe which runs through the centre of the market dwelling site and 
requires a 3m buffer to each side of the centre line. This has not been taken into 
account by the design and siting of the scheme and the watermain may have to be 
diverted. A note to applicant can be included on any decision issued. 

  

 
Location of watermain 

 
Having regard to the representations received, it is considered that the drainage 
proposals are broadly acceptable providing SAB approval is obtained and an 
application is submitted to divert the mains water pipe away from the development 
site of the market dwelling.  
 

4.2.6 Highways (including access and parking) 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime. The highway impacts of development 
should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration. 
 
Policy ASA 3 requires adequate parking spaces for cars and bicycles in connection 
with development proposals, and outlines considerations to be given to factors 
relevant to the application of standards. These policies reflect general principles set 
out in Planning Policy Wales (PPW) and TAN 18 – Transport, in support of 
sustainable development.  
 
The Parking Standards in New Developments SPG sets out the maximum parking 
standards for new developments. 
 
Representations have been received raising highways concerns relating to the blind 
bends on the road near the market dwelling and the traffic concerns on the road 
used to access the local school, including the lack of public transport in the area. 
 
A speed survey was submitted to support the application and revised plans were 
received regarding the access from the affordable dwellings onto the lane which is 
sloping. The 7-day average speed limit has been shown to be 27mph at 85th 

Page 99



percentile speed. The Highways Officers have raised no objections to either scheme 
and consider that the visibility splays are acceptable and demonstrate compliance 
with the visibility standards set out in Annex B of TAN 18 for both sites.  
 
Notwithstanding the narrow nature of the roads in the area, the two schemes are not 
considered by the Highway Officer to represent any significant harm to highway 
safety as it can be laid out to include adequate parking and turning facilities within 
each site. The increase in number of vehicles using the road as a result of the 
affordable housing development are not considered to be unacceptable on the 
highways network having regard to the proximity to the school. It is therefore not 
considered there are reasonable highway grounds to resist the development. 
 

4.2.7 Affordable Housing 
The Local Development Plan includes a number of policies which may be relevant to 
the provision of affordable housing within and outside identified settlement 
boundaries, in support of its strategies for meeting the needs of a growing 
population. The policies have been developed with regard to the objectives of 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 10), and Technical Advice Note 2: Planning and 
Affordable Housing in relation to new housing provision. 
  
Local Development Plan policies BSC6, BSC8 and BSC9 have been discussed in 
the principle section of the report and need not be repeated.  
 
The provision of 3 affordable dwellings to support the development of 1 market 
dwelling which is against local and national policy is not considered to be an 
acceptable route to obtain affordable housing in the county. The build would be 
speculative which, under the hamlets policy BSC6 is not permitted. Building in 
hamlets is for an identified need to ensure the sustainability of the community and 
this has not been proven in the application.  

 
It is vital that affordable housing is erected to meet the local need or it falls risk to 
becoming market housing. It is acknowledged that typically, there would be more 
market dwellings than affordable dwellings on a site and this scheme proposes the 
opposite which appears to result in a positive outcome in terms of a greater 
affordable housing provision. However, it is important to note that there must be an 
identifiable need for the affordable housing in the first place and the future occupants 
shown to meet the eligibility criteria. In this case, no evidence has been put forward 
of the need in the area, a general need as put forward in the Statement, but does 
not specify exactly who the occupants in affordable housing need are, which is a 
main requirement of the policy. 

 
Therefore, the speculative nature of the 3 affordable dwellings, poses a greater risk 
that they may become market dwellings in the future. The LDP aims to control 
development in the open countryside and Officers consider the risk of speculative 
affordable housing becoming market housing in the open countryside is too high in 
this instance. 
 

4.2.8 Open Space 
Policy BSC 3 of the local development plan sets the basic requirement for 
development to contribute, where relevant, to the provision of infrastructure, 
including recreation and open space, in accordance with Policy BSC 11.  

 
Policy BSC 11 specifies that all new housing developments should make adequate 
provision for recreation and open space.  All such schemes put increased demand 
on existing open spaces and facilities and therefore the policy applies to all 
developments including single dwellings.  

 
Table 4 in the Open Space SPG (adopted March 2017) sets out thresholds for on-
site provision and financial contributions. It specifies that for schemes of 1 – 30 
dwellings, open space obligations should be met through financial contributions 

Page 100



rather than onsite provision, however 5.4.9 of the SPG does state that the thresholds 
are indicative, and onsite provision for sites of less than 30 will be considered on 
their merits. 

 
An Open Space Assessment and Audit Report has been completed by the Council 
and provides the evidence base for Policy BSC 11. The report assesses the 
quantity, quality and accessibility of existing open spaces in the County on a 
community area basis with some additional information on an electoral ward basis. 

 
In relation to the application, the assessment shows that there is a deficiency in 
open space in Cefn Meiriadog and on the basis of the evidence within the Open 
Space Assessment and Audit Report, it is considered that the proposal should make 
a financial contribution to mitigate the increased usage on the existing open space 
and equipment within the area.  

 
Welsh Government Circular 16/2014 states that financial contributions should be 
secured through a planning obligation (legal agreement). 

 
The proposal is considered acceptable in relation to open space policy subject to the 
requisite contribution being secured through a legal agreement. 
 

 
Other matters 
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the 
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable 
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being) 
objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application 
determined, how the development complies with the Act. 
 
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3 
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development 
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The 
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development 
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of 
supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that 
there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of well-
being objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.  

 
 

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS: 
5.1 The proposal is for 1 market dwelling and 3 local affordable needs dwellings within an area 

identified as being for local connections affordable housing development only. The relevant 
planning policy in the adopted Local Development Plan (Policy BSC6) is clear that applicants 
for local connections affordable housing must be able to demonstrate that they meet the 
criteria and definition of being in need of affordable housing or their local connection.  
 

5.2 The application is therefore considered to be unacceptable in principle as the development of 
market housing in this location is not permitted under the LDP, and the tests in relation to 
local connections affordable housing have not been satisfied. The proposal is considered to 
be wholly speculative and would not be justified in planning terms.  
 

5.3 In addition to the above, it is considered that the siting and design of the proposed market 
dwelling would appear incongruous within the open character of the area. The proposal is 
therefore considered to be unacceptable in terms of its impact upon visual amenity.  

 
RECOMMENDATION: REFUSE- for the following reasons: - 

 
1. The application site lies within a hamlet area of search, where provision of new dwellings is 

not permitted expect for local need affordable housing development which may be 

Page 101



permissible as an exception to normal policy where it is in compliance with Policies BSC6, 
BSC8 or BSC9 of the Local Development Plan. In the opinion of the Local Planning Authority, 
the application for a market dwelling and three affordable units with no specified end user(s), 
fails to demonstrate that the proposal complies with the affordable housing exception policies 
and does not demonstrate that the applicant is in need of local affordable housing as defined 
in the Local Development Plan. The proposal is therefore in conflict with Policies BSC 4, BSC 
6, BSC 8 and BSC 9 of the Local Development Plan, advice as contained in the Affordable 
Housing Supplementary Planning Guidance Note and Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10). 
 

2. It is the opinion of the Local Planning Authority that the proposed market dwelling would, by 
virtue of its design, siting and materials, not be sympathetic to the existing development in the 
hamlet and would result in unacceptable visual harm. The development of the site contrary to 
rural restraints policies would have a negative impact on the character and appearance of the 
open countryside contrary to the Council's Local Development Plan Strategy and advice set 
out in Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10). 

 
 

Page 102



WARD : 
 

Bodelwyddan 
 

WARD MEMBER(S): 
 

Cllr Richard Mainon 

APPLICATION NO: 
 

40/2020/0813/ PO 

PROPOSAL: 
 

Development of 2.8ha of land by the erection of a Use Class C2 
hospital building (mental health unit to replace the existing Ablett 
Unit) with associated landscaping, car parking and site vehicular 
access; and the erection of a multi-storey car park with 
associated works (outline application - all matters reserved) 
 

LOCATION: Glan Clwyd Hospital  Rhuddlan Road Bodelwyddan  Rhyl 
LL185UJ 
 

 

Page 103

Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank



40/2020/0813
Scale: 1:3002
Printed on: 30/12/2020 at 13:12 PM © Denbighshire County Council

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100023408© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100023408

50 m
100 f t

Page 105



Page 106



P
age 107



P
age 108



P
age 109



P
age 110



P
age 111



P
age 112



P
age 113



P
age 114



Eitem Agenda 8 / Agenda Item 8

P
age 115



P
age 116



Eitem Agenda 8 / Agenda Item 8

P
age 117



P
age 118



 Emer O'Connor 
WARD : 
 

Bodelwyddan 
 

WARD MEMBER(S): 
 

Cllr Richard Mainon 

APPLICATION NO: 
 

40/2020/0813/ PO 

PROPOSAL: 
 

Development of 2.8ha of land by the erection of a Use Class C2 
hospital building (mental health unit to replace the existing Ablett 
Unit) with associated landscaping, car parking and site vehicular 
access; and the erection of a multi-storey car park with 
associated works (outline application - all matters reserved) 
 

LOCATION: Glan Clwyd Hospital  Rhuddlan Road Bodelwyddan  Rhyl 
LL185UJ 
 

APPLICANT: Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board 
 

CONSTRAINTS: None 
 

PUBLICITY 
UNDERTAKEN: 
 

Site Notice - Yes 
Press Notice - Yes 
Neighbour letters - Yes 
 

  
REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE: 
Scheme of Delegation Part 2 
 

 Recommendation to grant / approve – 4 or more objections received 
 

 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES: 

BODELWYDDAN COMMUNITY COUNCIL 
No reply received.  
 
NATURAL RESOURCES WALES 
No objection subject to conditions.   
 
DWR CYMRU / WELSH WATER 
Objection to original consultation on basis of siting of proposed multi-storey car park.  
 
DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTEES – 
- Highways Officer 

No objection, subject to condition for Construction Management Plan. 
 

Public Protection Officer  
          No objection, subject to conditions relating to noise levels/ noise report.  

 
County Ecologist 
No objection, subject to conditions relating to protected species reports, additional details for 
Great Crested Newt mitigation methods, habitat management plans and lighting.  
 
Flood Risk Engineer 
No reply received.  
 
Strategic Housing & Policy Officer 
No objection in principle.  
 
 

 

Page 119



RE-CONSULTATION RESPONSES (IF RELEVANT) 
DWR CYMRU / WELSH WATER 
Response awaited to details of re-siting of proposed car park.  
 

 
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY: 

In objection 
Representations received from: 
Kevin Rush & Sue Jones, 80 Ffordd Parc Castell, Bodelwyddan  
Stephen Humphreys, 96, Ffordd Parc Castell, Bodelwyddan  
Fayyaz Akbar, 90 Ffordd Parc Castell, Bodelwyddan 
Robert Johnson, 92, Ffordd Parc Castell, Bodelwyddan 
Justine & Richard Hughes, 94 Ffordd Parc Castell, Bodelwyddan 
Mr Llwyd, 84 Ffordd Parc Castell, Bodelwyddan  
K S James, 88 Ffordd Parc Castell, Bodelwyddan  
Louise Davies, 25 Parc Castell, Bodelwyddan 
Lisa Beumer, 86, Ffordd Parc Castell, Bodelwyddan 
Rebekah Foulkes, 82 FFordd Parc Castell, Bodelwyddan 
 
Summary of planning based representations in objection: 
Visual amenity- mental health unit finish would be excessively bright.  
Residential amenity- impacts of noise and disturbance from mental health unit on adjacent 
occupiers.  
Residential amenity- construction would effect adjacent occupiers.  
Loss of privacy- overlooking from mental health unit into adjacent occupiers rear gardens and 
windows 
Light pollution- from lighting on mental health unit into adjacent occupier’s rear gardens and 
windows.  
Community Safety- occupants of new mental health unit may abscond into adjacent residential 
area.   
Site selection flawed- alternative sites at Glan Clwyd Hospital should be considered further.    
Biodiversity- proposal will impact on biodiversity and protected species on the site.  
Landscaping mitigation insufficient – landscaping would take time to develop, unacceptable to 
rely on landscaping as buffer between the Mental Health Unit and adjacent occupiers gardens 
and dwellings.  
 
Representations received from: 
Dr James Davies MP, House of Commons, London  
 
Summary of planning based representation: 
Supports the application in principle, however reiterates the concerns of the adjacent occupiers 
(as set out in neighbouring occupiers representations above).  
 
 

EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 13/12/2020    
 
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED? 13/01/2021  
 
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):  

 additional information required from applicant 
 
 
PLANNING ASSESSMENT: 
1. THE PROPOSAL: 

1.1 Summary of proposals 
1.1.1 Outline planning permission is sought for the development of 2.8ha of land by the 

erection of a Use Class C2 hospital building (mental health unit to replace the existing 
Ablett Unit) with associated landscaping, car parking and site vehicular access; and 
the erection of a multi-storey car park with associated works. It is an outline 
application with all matters reserved.  

Page 120



 
1.1.2 Indicative details show the proposed mental health unit as a 2/3-storey hospital 

building located in the south western corner of the hospital site. As required the scale 
of the proposed building is stated in the application documents. It would have a 
maximum height of 17.5 metres. The maximum building parameters for the elevations 
would be; north elevation 104 metres, south elevation 111 metres, east elevation 36 
metres and west elevation 66 metres. The building would have a footprint up to 9,970 
square metres. The new building would provide a replacement facility for the existing 
Ablett Unit which delivers inpatient adult psychiatric and mental health services. The 
proposed mental health unit would provide 64 patient beds.  
 

1.1.1 The existing Ablett Unit would be retained to accommodate alternative ancillary 
hospital administrative functions which are presently accommodated elsewhere within 
the hospital site. 
 

1.1.2 The plans show the multi-storey car park proposed to be developed in the north 
eastern corner of the hospital site, utilising an area of existing surface car parking. 
Indicative plans show the car park as a three storey facility with 810 car parking 
spaces. The scale of the car park is stated to have a maximum height of 10.0 metres 
with the maximum building parameters for the elevations being 116.05 metres by 
56.59 metres.  

 
1.1.3 Indicative drainage proposals include connection to the existing foul sewer system 

serving the Hospital site. Surface water for the mental health unit would be directed to 
the existing SUDS facility for the existing carpark, which discharges to an adjacent 
ditch. Surface water for the carpark facility would be unchanged from the existing 
carpark drainage arrangements.  
 

1.1.4 The application is submitted by White Young Green / Tetratech as agents acting on 
behalf of the Betsi Cadwaladr University Health Board.  The application forms indicate 
the land is in the ownership of the applicants. 
 
 

1.2 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application 
1.2.1 In support of the application the following documents have been submitted: 

 Design and Access Statement  
This document outlines the background to the proposals and the rationale 
behind the planning application. It provides consideration of planning history 
and policies, issues of character, appearance, scale, parking, design, 
landscaping, ground conditions, biodiversity, drainage, water, site 
investigations, sustainable building standards, welsh language and culture, 
and community benefits. 
 

 Transport Assessment/ Travel Plan 
This considers such matters as traffic impact, access by all modes of 
transport and by people of all ages and abilities, sustainability, car parking 
and servicing and presents the proposals in relation to current guidance and 
data. Local and National Transport policy have been reviewed in respect of 
the development. A review of road safety has been undertaken within this 
report. Sustainable transport accessibility has also been reviewed within the 
report. This Transport Assessment concludes that the proposal would not 
create any significant transport impacts on the existing highway and provides 
an acceptable us in planning terms. 
 

 Community and Linguistic Impact Assessment 
This has been carried out in line with LDP Policy RD 5 which requires the 
needs and interests of the Welsh Language to be taken into account in 
planning decisions. The Assessment demonstrates that the proposed 

Page 121



development will not cause significant harm to the character and language 
balance of the community.  
 

 Arboricultural Impact Assessment 
The survey covered the site of the mental health unit and proposed car park. 
An assessment was made in accordance with BS 5837:2012 Trees in relation 
to design, demolition and construction – Recommendations.  The report 
concludes that the development would not give rise to unavoidable adverse 
effects that cannot be mitigated. From indicative proposals, it appears that 
the final detailed layout could be developed which would allow for the 
retention of the vast majority of trees, including all high value trees and those 
with potential suitability for bats. Additional information would be required to 
support the reserved matters application.  
 

 Ecology Assessment 
An initial Ecological Desk Study was carried out to identify species records 
and protected sites on the development site and in the vicinity. This collated 
data gives a useful indication of the distribution and abundance of ecological 
receptors and informed the need for further surveys. Recommendations and 
mitigation measures are suggested to ensure no significant impacts on trees, 
flora, fauna (Bats, Amphibians, Badgers, Voles, Reptiles, Hedgehog). 
Suggestions for biodiversity enhancement are also proposed.                                                    
 

 Drainage Strategy Statement/Water Conservation Statement 
The proposal for the mental health unit will utilise an existing SUDS design 
which will provide attenuation measures to limit the discharge of surface 
water. The car-park will not result in additional hard surfaces to drain as it is 
car-parking at present.  
The new mental health unit will incorporate a series of low water use and 
water conservation measures to contribute to its overall achievement of a 
BREEAM ‘Excellent’ rating. 
 

 Noise Impact Assessment 
Surveys have been undertaken and there is acceptance of the need to 
control plant noise in accordance with standard practice, in relation to nearby 
hospital buildings and residential properties. It is anticipated that any consent 
would contain appropriate design interventions to be agreed for the final 
scheme.  
 

 Pre-application Consultation Statement 
Details of the Pre-Application Consultation Exercise and PAC Report as per 
planning legislation requirements.  
 

1.3 Description of site and surroundings 
1.3.1 The application site comprises of three parcels of land within the wider Glan Clwyd 

Hospital site; the site for the proposed mental health unit, the existing Ablett Unit and 
the car park.   
 

1.3.2 The proposed mental health unit is located on the south western periphery of the 
hospital site, on an area currently used predominantly for car parking with some 
ancillary landscaping. The southern boundary of this site abuts the residential area of 
Parc Castell, where several dwellings have individual rear curtilages bounding the 
site. The western side is abutted by open agricultural land. 

 

Page 122



1.3.3 The proposed multi story car park is located on the north eastern periphery of the site. 
The area is currently used as a parking area and is abutted by the Rhuddlan Road to 
the east.  
 

1.3.4 The existing Ablett Unit is located within the southern section of the existing hospital 
site.  
 

1.3.5 The main Hospital buildings range from single storey up to 5 storey in height. The 
buildings closest to the proposed mental health unit are the two storey mortuary and 
single storey pathology units, which are relatively recent additions to the hospital site.  
 

1.4 Relevant planning constraints/considerations 
1.4.1 The site is located within the development boundary of Bodelwyddan.  

 
1.4.2 The site of Glan Clwyd Hospital is designated under Policy BSC 12 for the provision 

of community facilities. 
 

1.5 Relevant planning history 
1.5.1 There is a substantial amount of planning history on the Hospital site owing to the 

nature and volume of development associated with the healthcare use over the years.  
 

1.5.2 The site on which the mental health unit is proposed was formally granted planning 
permission as a permanent car-park in 2016 under planning ref. 40/2016/0109, 
although it has been in operation on a temporary basis since 2009. It is understood 
that the capacity of the carpark is 350 spaces.  
 

1.5.3 There is no recent history on the Ablett Unit.  
 
1.5.4 The site of the proposed multi storey carpark appears to have been in use for car-

parking historically. 
 

1.6 Developments/changes since the original submission 
1.6.1 Additional information has been submitted to address concerns raised by Welsh 

Water in relation to their assets within the car park site.  
 

1.6.2 It is understood that the Agents and representatives of the Applicant carried out an 
online meeting with adjacent occupiers following receipt of the consultation letters, the 
notes of this meeting were submitted to Officers for information purposes only.  

 
       1.7 Other relevant background information 

1.7.1 None.  
 
 
2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY: 

2.1 40/2008/11985/PF 
Construction of a temporary car park and associated access road for staff use – GRANTED at 
Planning Committee 09/03/2009  
 

2.2 40/2016/0109 
Continuation of use of temporary car park as a permanent car park – GRANTED under 
delegated powers 13/07/2016  
 

 
3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE: 

The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be: 
 

3.1 Local Policy/Guidance 
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013) 

  Policy RD1 – Sustainable development and good standard design 
Policy RD5 – The Welsh language and the social and cultural fabric of communities 

Page 123



Policy BSC1 – Growth Strategy for Denbighshire 
Policy BSC12 – Community facilities 
Policy VOE5 – Conservation of natural resources 
Policy VOE6 – Water management 
Policy ASA3 – Parking standards 

Supplementary Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Access For All 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Parking Requirements In New Developments 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Planning and the Welsh language  
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Trees & Landscaping 

3.2 Government Policy / Guidance 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10) December 2018 
Development Control Manual November 2016 
 
Technical Advice Notes 
TAN 5 Nature Conservation and Planning (2009) 
TAN 11 Noise (1997) 
TAN 12 Design (2016) 
TAN 20 Planning and the Welsh Language (2017) 
 

3.3 Other material considerations 
 

4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS: 
 

In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application, 
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that 
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted 
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that 
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in 
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.  
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design 
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the 
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).  
 
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 10 (December 
2018) and other relevant legislation. 
 
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to the policies of the 
Denbighshire Local Development Plan, and to the material planning considerations which are 
considered to be of relevance to the proposal. 
 
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be: 
 

4.1.1 Principle 
4.1.2 Visual amenity 
4.1.3 Residential amenity 
4.1.4 Ecology 
4.1.5 Drainage (including flooding) 
4.1.6 Highways (including access and parking) 
4.1.7 Noise 
4.1.8 Fear of crime 
4.1.9 Impact on Welsh Language and Social and Cultural Fabric 

 
 

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations: 
4.2.1 Principle 

Glan Clwyd Hospital is located within the development boundary of Bodelwyddan. 
The Strategic policies of the development plan seek to concentrate new development 
in existing settlements, subject to the consideration of environmental impacts.   

Page 124



 
The hospital site is allocated for policy BSC 12 community facilities in the 
development plan. Health care is highlighted as a key facility for communities in the 
policy justification. It is acknowledged that Glan Clwyd Hospital is an important health 
facility regionally as well as for Denbighshire residents.  
 
It is the opinion of Officers that the proposals for the developments for improvement 
and investment in community facilities at Glan Clwyd Hospital are acceptable in 
principle. The detailed impacts are reviewed in the following sections of the report. 
 

4.2.2 Visual amenity 
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting, 
layout, form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of 
land / buildings and spaces between buildings, which are matters relevant to the 
visual impact of development; test (vi) requires that development does not 
unacceptably affect prominent public views into, out of, or across any settlement or 
area of open countryside; test (vi) requires the incorporation of existing landscape or 
other features, takes account of site contours, and changes in levels and prominent 
skylines; and test (xiii) requires the incorporation of suitable landscaping measures to 
protect and enhance development in its local context. 
 
There are representations from neighbours in relation to the potential impacts of the 
mental health unit on visual amenity.  
 
The application is for outline permission only with all matters reserved for future 
approval. Indicative plans have been put forward for the mental health unit and the 
multi storey car park. Both buildings would be a mixture of 2 and 3 storeys in height. 
The mental health unit would be of contemporary design, similar to some of the other 
modern facilities at the hospital site.   
 
Whilst the comments of the consultees in relation to the visual impacts of the 
development are noted, these are not being considered in detail at this outline stage. 
From the parameters provided the indicative scale is not considered excessive or out 
of keeping with the surrounding development and the existing use of the site. 
Therefore, it is considered that there are no grounds to resist the development on 
visual amenity grounds at this stage. It is not considered that the outline application 
conflicts with the visual impact policies of RD1.  
 

4.2.3 Residential amenity 
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting, 
layout, form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of 
land / buildings and spaces between buildings, which touch on the potential for impact 
on residential amenity; test (vi) sets the requirement to assess the impact of 
development on the amenities of local residents, other land and property users, or 
characteristics of the locality, in terms of increased activity, disturbance, noise, dust, 
fumes, litter, drainage, light pollution, etc 
 
There are representations from neighbours in relation to the potential impacts of the 
mental health unit in particular on nearby residential amenity in relation to 
overlooking, loss of privacy, increase in activity around the site and entrance to the 
mental health unit, and the noise and disturbance associated with the use.  
 
As stated above, the application is for outline permission only. Indicative plans have 
been put forward for the mental health unit showing a building of 2/3 storey in height. 
The internal layout and entrance and exit arrangements have been shown, but it is 
important to note that these are only indicative floor plans not for consideration at this 
stage. There is some landscaping on the south boundary of the site and supporting 
documents also show boundary treatments could be supplemented.  
In relation to siting the minimum distance from the most western end of the proposed 
mental health unit to the nearest dwelling at Ffordd Parc Castell is approximately 23 

Page 125



metres. Elevation to elevation distances range across the site from 23 metres to 47 
metres. Indicative plans show the section of the building to the south (facing Parc 
Castell) to be two storey in height.  
 
Officers note that Glan Clwyd is an existing hospital site which predates the adjacent 
residential development at Parc Castell. There has been a carpark on the site since 
2009 which has unrestricted 24 hour use. Adjacent to the car park, the Mortuary and 
Pathology Buildings have been developed in the past 10 years.  
 
Planning policy does not require the Applicants to justify why an alternative site was 
not chosen for the mental health unit as it is located on a site allocated for community 
facilities. Whilst Members will undoubtedly have sympathy for the adjacent occupiers 
as the part of the site closest to their dwellings has changed over time, Officers 
consider that in relation to the physical relationship with nearby dwellings, at the 
distances and scale involved it is not considered there would be significant adverse 
impacts from overlooking or overshadowing to resist the grant of outline permission 
for the proposal. As a rule of thumb albeit for dwellings, Supplementary Planning 
Guidance Note states that where there are habitable room windows facing windows 
on an adjacent property, elevation to elevation distances should be at least 21 
metres. This spacing has been achieved with the siting shown indicatively. 
 
On the basis of the outline application and indicative plans Officers consider it would 
be difficult to resist the application on the basis of residential amenity grounds. 
 

4.2.4 Ecology 
Policy VOE 5 requires due assessment of potential impacts on protected species or 
designated sites of nature conservation, including mitigation proposals, and suggests 
that permission should not be granted where proposals are likely to cause significant 
harm to such interests. This reflects policy and guidance in Planning Policy Wales, 
and TAN 5 which stress the importance of the planning system in meeting biodiversity 
objectives through promoting approaches to development which create new 
opportunities to enhance biodiversity, prevent biodiversity losses, or compensate for 
losses where damage is unavoidable. 
 
There are representations expressing concerns over the impacts on protected 
species.  
 
The Council’s Biodiversity Officer has raised no objections. He suggests inclusion of 
conditions relating to Great Crested Newt and Vole reasonable avoidance measures, 
lighting, and precautions over site works in the Bird nesting season. He also suggests 
a condition ensuring additional landscaping as a biodiversity enhancement.  NRW 
have raised no objection to the proposed development in relation to the ecological 
issues.  
 
On the basis of the relevant technical advice, Officers conclusion is that there would 
be no unacceptable ecological impacts and that suitable conditions can be attached 
to ensure proper measures to mitigate / protect and enhance ecological interests if 
permission is granted.  
 

4.2.5 Drainage (including flooding) 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime. The drainage and flood risk impacts of 
development should therefore be regarded as potential material considerations. 
 
Welsh Water have raised no objection in principle to the proposed mental health unit 
or the Ablett element of the scheme. However, they have expressed concerns relating 

Page 126



to the siting of the car-park over a public trunk water-main which has resulted in 
updated plans being provided to move the car-park and create a 5 metre easement 
zone. Formal written acceptance of the siting is awaited at the time of writing the 
report and Officers will update Members on the matter in the Addendum Report/Blue 
Sheets.  
  
At outline stage the full drainage details have not been provided. The Drainage 
Strategy refers to the intention to deal with surface water by way of SUDS (with 
attenuation) and foul water via the existing mains. The site is not in a Flood Risk area 
 
The intentions for drainage have been assessed by Natural Resources Wales and 
Welsh Water. The principle of sustainable drainage for this site are accepted and 
subject to the imposition of a planning condition to ensure precise details, the 
specialist consultees raise no objections to the scheme. 
 
Having regard to the above, Officers do not consider there are any drainage or 
flooding issues of concern. Therefore, there is no conflict with the drainage 
considerations of Policy RD1. 
 

4.2.6 Highways (including access and parking) 
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 supports development proposals subject to 
meeting tests (vii) and (viii) which oblige provision of safe and convenient access for a 
range of users, together with adequate parking, services and manoeuvring space; 
and require consideration of the impact of development on the local highway network. 
Policy ASA 3 requires adequate parking spaces for cars and bicycles in connection 
with development proposals, and outlines considerations to be given to factors 
relevant to the application of standards. The Parking Standards in New Developments 
SPG sets out the maximum parking standards for new developments 
These policies reflect general principles set out in Planning Policy Wales (PPW 10). 
 
Highway Officers have raised no objection to the proposal. A condition for a 
Construction Management Plan is suggested.  
 
The proposals would not alter the existing access arrangements to or from the site 
from Rhuddlan Road. The development of the mental health unit would lead to the 
loss of parking on the southern end of the site, however the multi-storey car-park 
would mitigate this loss with the indicative provision of 810 spaces in total. The 
existing Ablett Unit would be used for administration carried out elsewhere on the site, 
therefore not resulting in the introduction of additional healthcare services on site with 
increased demand for additional parking. The submission states secure cycle parking 
and electric vehicle charging would be accommodated within the new carpark also.  
 
In Officers’ opinion the highways impact would not be significant and parking 
provision would be adequate to accommodate the use. Therefore, there is no conflict 
with the highways considerations of Policy RD1. 
 

4.2.7 Noise 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime.  
 
There are representations expressing concerns over increased activity on the site and 
the proposed plant and machinery giving rise to noise disturbance.  
 
Service plant/equipment on the roofs of the proposed buildings has the potential to 
generate noise. However, considering the noise report submitted the proposed mental 

Page 127



health building itself may offer some screening from existing noise from the mortuary 
and pathology buildings.  
 
Public Protection Officers confirm the need for condition(s) on any consent to ensure 
noise levels are controlled to acceptable limits and well as details to be submitted of 
plant and machinery alongside the reserved matters application. Officers suggest the 
latter is an important consideration and that any permission should include 
appropriate noise level controls. 
 

4.2.8 Fear of crime / Security Issues  
Policy RD 1 - Sustainable development and good standard design test xii) states that 
development should take account of personal and community safety and security in 
the design and layout of development and public/private spaces and have regard to 
implications for crime and disorder.  
 
It is established that fear of crime can be a material consideration and test xii) of RD1 
adds a policy hook for such a consideration, however like all potential impacts 
evidence is required to substantiate this as a ground for refusal of permission.  
 
The Agents have advised that the mental health unit would be secure, indicative plans 
show perimeter/security fencing is proposed which would be detailed further at 
reserved matters state. The mental health unit is already in operation from the Ablett 
Unit on the Glan Clwyd Hospital Site.  
 
Whilst the security concerns are a consideration, Officers do not feel there is 
compelling evidence to challenge the applicants claims that the use can be 
acceptably managed so as to avoid any potential security issues, or crime and 
disorder. 
 

4.2.9 Impact on Welsh Language and Social and Cultural Fabric 
The requirement to consider the needs and interests of the Welsh Language is set out 
in Planning Policy Wales (PPW 10); TAN 20 and Policy RD 5 of the Local 
Development Plan.  
 
TAN 20 (2017) provides the most up to date guidance on considerations to be given 
to impacts on the Welsh Language.  
 
There are no representations expressing comment on the potential impacts of the 
proposals on the Welsh language and social and cultural fabric of the area.  
 
A Community and Linguistic Assessment has been provided in support of the 
application. This does not raise any issues of principle in relation to Welsh language 
policies.   
 
 
Other matters 
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the 
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable 
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being) 
objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application 
determined, how the development complies with the Act. 
 
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3 
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development 
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The 
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development 
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of 
supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that 

Page 128



there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of well-
being objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.  

 
 
 

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS: 
5.1 The report sets out what Officers believe to be the main issues of relevance to the 

consideration of the application. Having regard to the responses from key consultees, other 
representations, the planning policies and material considerations, Officers do not consider 
that there is clear evidence of material harm likely to arise as a result of the development. 
Imposition of suitable planning conditions can help to mitigate localised impacts if permission 
is granted. 
 

5.2 In reaching a recommendation on the proposal, Officers recognise there are local concerns, 
but that having due regard to the issues and information relevant to a decision for an outline 
permission on the site of an existing community facility, it is concluded there are limited land 
use planning grounds to justify a refusal of planning permission.  

 
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT- subject to the following conditions:- 

 
 
1. Approval of the details of the access, appearance of the building(s), landscaping, scale and 

layout (hereinafter called ""the reserved matters"") shall be obtained from the Local Planning 
Authority in writing before the commencement of any development. 
 

2. Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning Authority 
before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission. 
 

3. The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of five years 
from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years from the date of 
approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later. 
 

4. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown 
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any 
other condition pursuant to this permission:  
(i) Illustrative North and East elevations (Drawing No. ABL-PDA-ZX-XX-DR-A-05100) 
received 19 October 2020 
(ii) Illustrative South and West elevations (Drawing No. ABL-PDA-ZX-XX-DR-A-05101) 
received 19 October 2020 
(iii) Illustrative ground floor plan (Drawing No. ABL-PDA-ZX-00-DR-A-05120 P01) received 19 
October 2020 
(iv) Illustrative first floor plan (Drawing No. ABL-PDA-ZX-01-DR-A-05121) received 19 
October 2020 
(v) Illustrative second floor plan (Drawing No. ABL-PDA-ZX-02-DR-A-05122) received 19 
October 2020 
(vi) Illustrative roof plan (Drawing No. ABL-PDA-ZX-RF-DR-A-05123 P01) received 19 
October 2020 
(vii) Parameters Plan (Drawing No. ABL-PDA-ZX-XX-DR-A-05124 P01) received 19 October 
2020 
(viii) Proposed massing and section height (Drawing No. ABL-PDA-ZX-XX-DR-A-05125) 
received 19 October 2020 
(ix) Proposed site security and privacy plan (Drawing No. ABL-PDA-ZX-XX-DR-A-05130 P01) 
received 19 October 2020 
(x) Illustrative site security and privacy section (Drawing No. ABL-PDA-ZX-XX-DR-A-05131) 
received 19 October 2020 
(xi) Illustrative Multi-storey car park elevations (Drawing No. SK005 Rev. 003) received 14 
December 2020 
(xii) Illustrative Multi-storey car park floor plans (Drawing No. SK004 Rev. 005) received 14 
December 2020 

Page 129



(xiii) Illustrative Multi-storey car park Massing Constraints (Drawing No. SK006 Rev. 004) 
received 14 December 2020 
(xiv) Topographical survey (Drawing No. 10690-002 Part 1) received 19 October 2020 
(xv) Topographical survey  (Drawing No. 10690-002 Part 2) received 19 October 2020 
(xvi) Existing site plan 1 of 2 (Drawing No. ABL-PDA-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-05115 P01) received 19 
October 2020 
(xvii) Existing site plan 2 of 2 (Drawing No. ABL-PDA-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-05116) received 19 
October 2020 
(xviii) Illustrative site plan (Drawing No. ABL-PDA-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-05112 P02) received 19 
October 2020 
(xix) Location plan (Drawing No. ABL-PDA-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-05111 P05) received 19 October 
2020 
xx) Site Security and Privacy Plan (Drawing No. ABL-PDA-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-05130 P02) received 
23 November 2020 

 
5. Notwithstanding the approved details, the upper and lower limits (parameters) of the buildings 

as shown on the approved Illustrative proposed plans are only approved. Details of layout and 
landscaping are not approved and are reserved matters which shall be subject to separate 
approval pursuant to condition 1 above. 
 

6. Notwithstanding the approved plans the external roof mounted plant equipment shall be 
designed and installed to achieve the decibel values indicated in the submitted noise report 
(AEC REPORT: P4144/R01/DMT). 
 

7. In the event of complaints to the Local Planning Authority over noise attributable to the 
operation of the mental health unit, and after they have been initially investigated by the 
Authority to assess that there is a potential for breach of condition 6.  
a. The Authority shall notify the applicants in writing of the complaint; 
b. Within one month of notification by the Authority, the applicants shall organise, at their own 
expense, a noise assessment by independent acoustic consultants, in accordance with a brief 
to be set by the Authority, to establish whether the terms of Condition 6 are being met, to 
identify the source of any noise which may be giving rise to complaint, and to put forward 
measures for addressing/mitigating noise so that the levels set in Condition 6 are met, 
including the timing of implementation of the measures; 
c. A copy of the noise assessment undertaken in accordance with b. shall be submitted to the 
Authority no later than two months from the date of notification in a. 

 
8. In the event that a noise assessment carried out in accordance with Condition 7 identifies 

noise exceeding the levels set in Condition 6:  
a. Specific mitigation measures as set out in the assessment, or such other alternative means 
of addressing the source(s) of noise as are submitted for the consideration and approval of 
the Local Planning Authority, shall be implemented in accordance with a timescale to be 
agreed in writing with the Authority; 
b. The applicants shall organise, at their own expense, a noise assessment by independent 
acoustic consultants, in accordance with a brief to be set by the Authority, of noise levels at 
an agreed noise sensitive facade for a period to be agreed with the Authority, once the 
approved mitigation measures have been implemented, to determine whether the 
requirements of Condition 6 are being met; 
c. A copy of the findings of the further noise monitoring undertaken in accordance with b. shall 
be submitted to the Authority within 7 days of completion 

 
9. In the event that the noise monitoring required by Conditions 6 and 7 of this permission 

confirms that noise levels remain in excess of those set in Condition 6, the item(s) of plant, 
equipment, activities, etc. identified as giving rise to the problems shall not be permitted to 
continue to operate until alternative mitigation measures are approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority, the measures as approved are implemented, the same noise monitoring 
arrangements as set out in Condition 7 and 8 are undertaken, and the written approval of the 
Authority is obtained to the continued operation of the particular plant, equipment, activities, 
etc. 
 

Page 130



10. No development works which could impact on great crested newts shall commence until a 
report or method statement detailing great crested newt avoidance, mitigation and 
compensation measures, has been submitted and approved in writing by the LPA. This 
should include details of the specifications and locations of mitigation measures marked on 
site drawings. The approved measures shall be implemented in full. 
 

11. The proposed development must contain provision for roosting bats and nesting birds, in line 
with recommendations made in section 5.21 of the GLAN CLWYD HOSPITAL 
BODELWYDDAN ECOLOGICAL ASSESSMENT (SITE 1 AND 2) Report. The number, 
location and specification of these features* should reflect the scale of the development, be 
determined by a suitably qualified ecologist, and shown on appropriate plans and drawings. 
The updated plans should be submitted to the LPA for approval and the approved measures 
shall be implemented in full. 
 

12. An external lighting/internal light spillage scheme, designed to avoid negative impacts on 
bats, must be submitted and approved in writing by the LPA. This should follow the guidance 
set out in Guidance Note 08/18 Bats and artificial lighting in the UK (2018) Bat conservation 
Trust & The Institute for Lighting Professionals. A warm white spectrum (ideally <2700Kelvin) 
should be adopted to reduce blue light component. Luminaires should feature peak 
wavelengths higher than 550nm to avoid the component of light most disturbing to bats. The 
approved measures shall be implemented in full. 
 

13. Prior to the commencement of development, Biosecurity Risk Assessment shall be submitted 
to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall proceed 
strictly in accordance with those details as approved. 
 

14. Works which could result in the damage or destruction of active bird nests must take place 
outside the of the bird breeding season (March - August, inclusive) or immediately following a 
nesting bird check conducted by a suitably qualified ecologist. 
 

15. The development shall be carried out in strict accordance with the recommendations set out 
in Section 4 of the GLAN CLWYD HOSPITAL BODELWYDDAN WATER VOLE SURVEY 
report, in respect of Water Vole avoidance, mitigation and compensations measures. 
 

16. No species listed in schedule 9 of the Wildlife and Countryside Act (1981), as amended, or 
species listed on the Invasive Alien Species of Union concern (EU Regulation 1143/2014 on 
invasive alien species) shall be included in the planting scheme for this development. 
 

17. Prior to the commencement of development, a habitat management plan must be submitted 
to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. This must outline the timing and 
specification of management for the natural and semi-natural habitats retained and created on 
site, and set out who will be responsible for undertaking this management. The development 
shall proceed strictly in accordance with those details as approved. 
 

18. No external lighting shall be installed without the formal written approval of the local planning 
authority to the detailing of the proposed lighting, including emergency/security lighting. The 
details shall include the design of the lighting and associated columns / means of fixture to 
buildings, their position, height, the means and intensity of illumination, hooding, the extent of 
lumination and the anticipated spread of light, the hours of operation of the lights, and any 
proposals for use of reduced intensity outside hours of operation of the business.   The 
approved scheme shall be implemented strictly in accordance with the approved details. 
 

19. The development hereby permitted shall not be allowed to commence until the written 
approval of the Local Planning Authority has been obtained to a detailed Construction Method 
Statement. The Statement shall provide details of: 
a) the arrangements for the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
b) the location of any construction compound and measures to reinstate the land following 
completion of the works 
c) the hours of site works and deliveries 

Page 131



d) the proposed routing of delivery vehicles, and directional signing along public roads where 
necessary 
e) the location of areas designated for the loading, unloading, and storage of plant and 
materials; 
f) the proposals for security fencing or hoardings around the site 
g) pollution prevention and control measures, including measures to control the emission of 
dust and dirt, and to prevent pollution of watercourses 
h) wheel washing facilities; 
i) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works. 
j) any proposed external lighting  
k) the piling methods, in the event that this form of foundation construction is proposed 

 
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved elements of the 
Construction Method Statement throughout the construction period. 

 
20. No development shall take place until a fully detailed scheme of foul drainage and surface 

water drainage has been submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority and the 
approved scheme shall be completed before the occupation of the new mental health unit or 
use of the multi storey car park. 

 
 
The reasons for the conditions are:- 
 
1. To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
2. To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
3. To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
4. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development. 
5. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development. 
6. In the interests of the amenities of occupiers of nearby properties. 
7. In order that appropriate steps are put in place to investigate and mitigate noise complaints, in 

the interests of the amenities of occupiers of nearby properties. 
8. In order that appropriate steps are put in place to investigate and mitigate noise complaints, in 

the interests of the amenities of occupiers / users of nearby properties. 
9. In order that appropriate steps are put in place to investigate and mitigate noise complaints, in 

the interests of the amenities of occupiers / users of nearby properties. 
10. In the interests of nature conservation. 
11. In the interests of nature conservation. 
12. In the interests of nature conservation. 
13. In the interests of nature conservation. 
14. In the interests of nature conservation. 
15. In the interests of nature conservation. 
16. In the interests of nature conservation. 
17. In the interests of nature conservation. 
18. In the interests of visual amenity. 
19. In the interest of safety and the free flow of traffic on the adjoining highway. 
20. In the interest of water management. 
 
 

Page 132



WARD : 
 

Rhyl East 
 

WARD MEMBER(S): 
 

Cllr Barry Mellor 
Cllr Tony Thomas (c) 
 

APPLICATION NO: 
 

45/2020/0897/ PF 

PROPOSAL: 
 

Erection of 1 no. dwelling, detached garage, means of access 
and associated works 
 

LOCATION: Land at rear of 2  Elm Grove   Rhyl LL18 3PE 
 

 

Page 133

Agenda Item 9



This page is intentionally left blank



45/2020/0897
Scale: 1:1250
Printed on: 30/12/2020 at 14:10 PM © Denbighshire County Council

© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100023408© Crown copyright and database rights 2020 Ordnance Survey 100023408

20 m
100 f t

Page 135



Page 136



Page 137



Page 138



Page 139



Page 140



Eitem Agenda 9 / Agenda Item 9

P
age 141



P
age 142



 Emer O'Connor 
WARD : 
 

Rhyl East 
 

WARD MEMBER(S): 
 

Cllr Barry Mellor 
Cllr Tony Thomas (c) 
 

APPLICATION NO: 
 

45/2020/0897/ PF 

PROPOSAL: 
 

Erection of 1 no. dwelling, detached garage, means of access 
and associated works 
 

LOCATION: Land at rear of 2  Elm Grove   Rhyl LL18 3PE 
 

APPLICANT: Mr & MrsJ Hughes 
 

CONSTRAINTS: Article 4 Direction 
 

PUBLICITY 
UNDERTAKEN: 
 

Site Notice - No 
Press Notice - No 
Neighbour letters - Yes 
 

  
 
 
REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE: 
Scheme of Delegation Part 2 
 

 Recommendation to grant / approve – 4 or more objections received 
 
 
CONSULTATION RESPONSES: 

RHYL TOWN COUNCIL 
“No objection subject to the retention of the existing hedgerow” 
 
DWR CYMRU / WELSH WATER 
No objection subject to conditions requiring drainage details.  
 
DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTEES – 
- Highways Officer 

No objection.  
 

 
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY: 

In objection 
Representations received from: 
Alan Evans, 4 Elm Grove, Rhyl. 
J. Hutchison, 2, Elm Grove Rhyl. 
Kandina Milton, 11 Rhyl Coast Road, Rhyl.   
Gordon  Milton, 11 Rhyl Coast Road, Rhyl.   
Ken Dawes, 9 Rhyl Coast Road, Rhyl.  
Melanie Dawes, 9 Rhyl Coast Road, Rhyl.  
 
Summary of planning based representations in objection: 
Amenity- impact on adjacent occupiers by virtue of overlooking/loss of privacy 
Highways safety- inadequate access 
Biodiversity- loss of habitat  
Visual amenity- inappropriate development  
 
 

EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 31/12/2020    

Page 143



 
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED: 13/01/2020 
 
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):  

 awaiting consideration by Committee 
 

 
PLANNING ASSESSMENT: 
1. THE PROPOSAL: 

1.1 Summary of proposals 
1.1.1 The application seeks full planning permission for the erection of a dwelling, detached 

garage, means of access and associated works on land to the rear of no. 2 Elm 
Grove in Rhyl.  
 

1.1.2 A detached 2 storey dwelling is proposed to be sited centrally on the plot with front 
elevation facing westwards and rear eastwards. The dwelling would occupy a footprint 
of roughly 90 sq metres, comprising of 4 bedrooms on the upper floor and living 
accommodation on the ground floor. Materials proposed are render, brick and slate 
effect tiles.  

 
1.1.3 The proposed dwelling would have a parking space and a turning area to the front, 

and private garden to the rear. A detached double garage is proposed on the western 
boundary of the site, adjacent to the access point.  
 

1.1.4 Existing landscaping on the site would have to be removed to facilitate the re-
development. Some additional landscaping is shown on the proposed plans, namely a 
hedge along sections of the site frontage.  

 
1.1.5 The plans illustrating the proposals are included at the front of the report. 

 
1.2 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application 

1.2.1 The site has the benefit of an extant outline planning permission. However, the 
applicants have acquired the site and a slightly larger parcel of land than was shown 
on the outline consent. They wish to include a garage on this land at the western end 
of the site, and make some minor changes to the previously approved layout hence a 
full application is now required.  
 

1.3 Description of site and surroundings 
1.3.1 The site is currently an undeveloped garden area to the rear of 2 Elm Grove with 

some established landscaping and one small tree. The site shares boundaries with 
residential properties on three sides and fronts onto an un-adopted road to the south. 

 
1.3.2 The un-adopted road currently provides access to a dwelling (Pen Yr Ardd), a number 

of residential garages and a bowling green.  
 

1.4 Relevant planning constraints/considerations 
1.4.1 The site is located within the development boundary of Rhyl in an area without any 

other specific designation in the Local Development Plan. 
 

1.5 Relevant planning history 
1.5.1 The site has the benefit of an outline planning permission. The outline planning 

permission was granted in 2017 and extended in June 2020 to allow for additional 
time to submit reserved matters approval.  
 

1.5.2 Prior to this permission was granted for outline permission for the erection of a 
detached dwelling on the site in 2013. This permission lapsed in 2016.  
 

1.5.3 Planning permission was granted for the adjacent site Pen Yr Ardd to the rear of 15 
Rhyl Coast Road in April 2011. 
 

Page 144



1.6 Developments/changes since the original submission 
1.6.1 Clarification of landscaping details were sought from the Agent since the original 

submission.  
 
       1.7 Other relevant background information 

1.7.1 None.  
 
 
2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY: 

2.1 45/2020/0218/PS Variation of condition no. 2 of outline planning permission code no. 
45/2017/0076 to allow a further 3 years for the submission of reserved matters. APPROVED 
26/06/2020 
 

2.2 45/2017/0076/ PO Development of 0.03ha of land by the erection of a dwelling (outline 
application including access). GRANTED 07/06/2019 
 

2.3 45/2013/0052/ PO Development of 0.03ha of land by the erection of a dwelling (outline 
application including access and layout). GRANTED 20/03/2013 
 

2.4 45/2011/0139 - Erection of a detached dwelling (0.028 ha of land) GRANTED at Planning 
Committee 13 April 2011 ADJACENT SITE  
 

 
3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE: 

The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be: 
 

3.1 Local Policy/Guidance 
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013) 

  Policy RD1 – Sustainable development and good standard design 
Policy BSC1 – Growth Strategy for Denbighshire 
Policy BSC3 – Securing infrastructure contributions from Development 
Policy BSC11 – Recreation and open space 
Policy VOE5 – Conservation of natural resources 
Policy ASA3 – Parking standards 

Supplementary Planning Guidance 
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Planning Obligations  
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development  
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development Design Guide 

3.2 Government Policy / Guidance 
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10) December 2018 
Development Control Manual November 2016 
 

3.3 Other material considerations 
 

4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS: 
 

In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application, 
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that 
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted 
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that 
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in 
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.  
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design 
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the 
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).  
 
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 10 (December 
2018) and other relevant legislation. 
 

Page 145



The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to the policies of the 
Denbighshire Local Development Plan, and to the material planning considerations which are 
considered to be of relevance to the proposal. 
 
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be: 

4.1.1 Principle 
4.1.2 Visual amenity 
4.1.3 Residential amenity 
4.1.4 Ecology 
4.1.5 Drainage (including flooding) 
4.1.6 Highways (including access and parking) 
4.1.7 Open Space 

 
4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations: 

4.2.1 Principle 
The main policy in the Local Development Plan which is relevant to the principle of 
housing development in towns and villages is BSC1, which seeks to make provision 
for new housing in a range of locations, concentrating development within identified 
development boundaries. 
Policy RD1 states that development proposals within development boundaries will be 
supported subject to compliance with detailed criteria.  
 
As the site is within the development boundary of Rhyl as defined in the Local 
Development Plan, the principle of the development proposed would be acceptable in 
terms of BSC1.  
 
Furthermore, the residential use of the site is established by virtue of previous 
planning permissions on the site and an extant outline planning permission which 
must be given substantial weight in the decision making for this proposal.  
 
It is considered the determination of the application should rest on assessment of the 
local impacts of the proposal, which are reviewed in the following sections of the 
report. 
 

4.2.2 Visual amenity 
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting, 
layout, form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of 
land / buildings and spaces between buildings, which are matters relevant to the 
visual impact of development;  test (vi) requires that development does not 
unacceptably affect prominent public views into, out of, or across any settlement or 
area of open countryside; test (vi) requires the incorporation of existing landscape or 
other features, takes account of site contours, and changes in levels and prominent 
skylines; and test (xiii) requires the incorporation of suitable landscaping measures to 
protect and enhance development in its local context. 
 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 as to what can be 
considered a material consideration, and states that the effects of a development on 
the neighbourhood and environment can be a material consideration. It is therefore 
considered that the impact of a proposal on the visual amenity of an area is a 
standard material consideration. 
 
Individual objections have been received to the application based on the visual 
amenity impacts of the proposed dwelling. The concerns raised relate to the opinion 
that residential development on the site would be inappropriate in terms of the 
character of the area.  
 
The plans show a dwelling with relatively standard design characteristics common to 
those in the residential area around the site, including use of render and brick on the 
walls, concrete tiles and detached garages. The principle of residential development 

Page 146



is established in the area and on the site previously. Therefore, in Officers’ opinion 
this approach is acceptable in visual terms. 
 
 

4.2.3 Residential amenity 
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting, 
layout, form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of 
land / buildings and spaces between buildings, which touch on the potential for impact 
on residential amenity; test (vi) sets the requirement to assess the impact of 
development on the amenities of local residents, other land and property users, or 
characteristics of the locality, in terms of increased activity, disturbance, noise, dust, 
fumes, litter, drainage, light pollution, etc. 
Planning Policy Wales 3.1.4 confirms that factors to be taken into account in making 
planning decisions (material considerations) must be planning matters; that is, they 
must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in the public 
interest, towards the goal of sustainability. The residential amenity impacts of a 
development proposal are a material consideration. 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 as to what can be 
considered a material consideration, and states that the effects of a development on 
the neighbourhood and environment can be a material consideration. It is therefore 
considered that the impact of a proposal on the visual amenity of an area is a 
standard material consideration.          
 
Individual objections have been received to the application based on the residential 
amenity impacts of the proposed dwelling, by virtue of a loss of privacy, overbearing 
impact and a loss of light.  
 
The application proposes the erection of a 4 bedroom two storey dwelling. All 
habitable room windows are proposed to face east and west on the site. There is  
110 sq metres amenity space proposed for the dwelling to the rear of the site. The 
proposed dwelling would be 13 metres from the side elevation of Pen yr Ardd to the 
east (there are no windows on the elevation of Pen yr Ardd). The rear of a number of 
properties on Rhyl Coast Road face onto the development site on the north side. The 
proposed dwelling would be approximately 14 metres to these dwellings at its closest 
point. To the east, the rear of 2 Elm Grove would be approximately 30 metres from 
the proposed dwelling.  
 
Based on the separation distances involved, and the detailing of the fenestration with 
no habitable room windows on the northern side of the dwelling, it is the opinion of 
Officers that the proposal would not impact significantly on the amenity or existing or 
proposed occupiers. A condition can be attached to ensure no windows are installed 
without the further grant of planning permission to ensure the approved arrangement 
is retained. Subject to controls Officers consider there are no significant policy 
conflicts in respect of on residential amenity impacts in this instance.  
 

4.2.4 Ecology 
Policy VOE 5 requires due assessment of potential impacts on protected species or 
designated sites of nature conservation, including mitigation proposals, and suggests 
that permission should not be granted where proposals are likely to cause significant 
harm to such interests. This reflects policy and guidance in Planning Policy Wales, 
and TAN 5 which stress the importance of the planning system in meeting biodiversity 
objectives through promoting approaches to development which create new 
opportunities to enhance biodiversity, prevent biodiversity losses, or compensate for 
losses where damage is unavoidable. 
 
Individual objection concerns over the loss of habitat and biodiversity on the site.  
 
The site has not been identified as having potential to support protected species. It is 
located within a relatively populated area. Whilst there would be a loss of a tree and 
some landscaping on the site, plans show new landscaping proposed. Whilst the 

Page 147



comments of the Town Council are noted, it would be difficult to develop the site 
without the loss of some landscaping. Officers consider that the biodiversity value of 
the site this could be improved with a better landscaping scheme and further 
biodiversity enhancements included within the design of the dwelling such as bat and 
bird boxes. A condition can be attached to this end.  
 

4.2.5 Drainage (including flooding) 
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (xi) requires that development satisfies 
physical or natural environmental considerations relating to drainage and liability to 
flooding.  
 
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material 
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned, 
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the 
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the 
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for 
example, health, public safety and crime. Drainage and liability to flooding should 
therefore be regarded as potential material considerations. 
 
Individual objections raise concerns over the drainage implications of the 
development. Dwr Cymru Welsh Water have no objections to the proposal subject to 
the imposition of planning condition and exploration of Suds for surface water 
drainage. The site lies outside of any designated flood zone as defined by NRW. 
 
Given the response of Dwr Cymru in relation to the drainage details and protection of 
their assets it is considered the proposal raises no significant policy impacts in terms 
of drainage or flooding.  
 

4.2.6 Highways (including access and parking) 
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 supports development proposals subject to 
meeting tests (vii) and (viii) which oblige provision of safe and convenient access for a 
range of users, together with adequate parking, services and manoeuvring space; 
and require consideration of the impact of development on the local highway network. 
Policy ASA 3 requires adequate parking spaces for cars and bicycles in connection 
with development proposals, and outlines considerations to be given to factors 
relevant to the application of standards.  
 
These policies reflect general principles set out in Planning Policy Wales (PPW 10) 
and TAN 18 – Transport, in support of sustainable development. 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 10) confirms that factors to be taken into account in 
making planning decisions (material considerations) must be planning matters; that is, 
they must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in the 
public interest, towards the goal of sustainability. The highway impacts of a 
development proposal are a material consideration. 
 
There are individual objections expressing concerns over the highways impacts of the 
proposals, in terms of the use of the track for the additional dwelling and general 
activity around the site.  
 
The Highway Officers have no objections to this application or the pervious 
permissions on the site. Whilst the track is narrow with no passing places, the small 
scale nature of the development is considered. It is unlikely to significantly increase 
traffic movements using the access/track and therefore no unacceptable highway 
related issues are likely to arise from the proposal. 
 
On this basis Officers consider there are no strong highway grounds to resist the 
planning application.  
 
 

Page 148



4.2.7 Open Space 
Policy BSC 3 of the local development plan sets the basic requirement for 
development to contribute, where relevant, to the provision of infrastructure, including 
recreation and open space, in accordance with Policy BSC 11.  
 
Policy BSC 11 specifies that all new housing developments should make adequate 
provision for recreation and open space.  All such schemes put increased demand on 
existing open spaces and facilities and therefore the policy applies to all 
developments including single dwellings. 
 
The application proposes the creation of 1 no. new residential unit alongside one 
replacement; no public open space is proposed to be accommodated on site.  
 
It is considered that the proposal would be acceptable in relation to open space 
subject to the requisite contribution of £1237.22 (as per Open Space Calculator) 
being secured by virtue of a S106, Unilateral Undertaking or Planning Agreement. 

 
Other matters 
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the 
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable 
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being) 
objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application 
determined, how the development complies with the Act. 
 
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3 
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development 
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The 
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development 
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of 
supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that 
there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of well-
being objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.  

 
 

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS: 
5.1 The proposal is to erect a dwelling on a site where there is an existing planning permission in 

place in Rhyl. The site is within the development boundary and there are no ‘in principle’ 
issues involved in the development. 
 

5.2 In respecting comments raised in relation to potential issues, Officers are satisfied that the 
development will not give rise to significant impacts. The proposals are therefore 
recommended for grant. 
 

 
RECOMMENDATION: -  
 

5.3 It is therefore recommended to grant permission subject to: 
 

 Completion of Planning Agreement to secure an open space contribution of £1237.22 (as per 
OS Calculator). 

 
 In the event of failure to complete the Agreement within 12 months of the date of the 

resolution of the grant of permission, the application would be reported back to the Committee 
for determination against the relevant policies and guidance at that time. 

 
The Certificate of Decision would not be released until the completion of the Agreement. 

 
 

RECOMMENDATION: GRANT- subject to the following conditions:- 

Page 149



 
 
1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than 13th January 

2026 
 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown 
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any 
other condition pursuant to this permission: 
(i) Dwelling as proposed (Drawing No. 3181/1/MAY/2020) received 6 November 2020 
(ii) Proposed garage and site plan (Drawing No. 3181/1/MAY/2020) received 7 
December 2020 
(iii) Location plan received 6 November 2020(iv) Existing site plan received 2 December 
2020 

 
3. No development shall take place until a fully detailed scheme of foul drainage and surface 

water drainage has been submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority and the 
approved scheme shall be completed before the occupation of the dwelling. 
 

4. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order with or without 
modification) no windows additional to those shown on the approved plans shall be inserted 
at any time in the dwelling hereby permitted. 
 

5. Notwithstanding the approved plans no development shall take place until a detailed scheme 
of landscaping has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The plans shall include a mix of hedgerows and trees of native species to enhance 
biodiversity value on the site. All planting comprised in the approved details of landscaping 
shall be carried out no later than the first planting and seeding season following the 
commencement of development.  Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from 
the completion of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species, 
unless otherwise agreed in writing. 
 

6. No development shall be permitted to commence until the written approval of the Local 
Planning Authority has been obtained to details of a least two integrated bat boxes and two 
bird nesting boxes and their proposed location within the site. The development shall proceed 
strictly in accordance with the approved details. 

 
 
The reasons for the conditions are:- 
 
1. To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
2. For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development. 
3. In the interest of the management of the management of foul and surface water. 
4. In the interest of residential amenity. 
5. In the interest of biodiversity enhancement and visual amenity. 
6. In the interests of nature conservation and biodiversity enhancement. 
 
 

Page 150


	Agenda
	1 APOLOGIES
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	4 MINUTES
	5 APPLICATION NO. 01/2020/0808 - 47 ERW SALUSBURY, DENBIGH
	Final Report 01-2020-0808
	Location plan 01_2020_0808.pdf
	01/2020/0808

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page


	6 APPLICATION NO. 01/2020/0832 - GLANRAFON, BROOKHOUSE ROAD, DENBIGH
	Final Report 01-2020-0832
	Location plan 01_2020_0832.pdf
	01/2020/0832

	Location plan 01_2020_0832.pdf
	01/2020/0832

	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page


	7 APPLICATION NO. 31/2020/0338 - LAND ADJOINING MARLLWYN, GROESFFORDD MARLI
	Final report 31_2020_0338
	31/2020/0338
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page


	8 APPLICATION NO. 40/2020/0813 GLAN CLWYD HOSPITAL, RHUDDLAN ROAD, BODELWYDDAN
	Final Report 40-2020-0813
	Location plan 40_2020_0813 (1).pdf
	40/2020/0813

	Blank Page
	Illustrative Plan MHU.pdf
	Sheets
	05125 - Proposed Massing and Section Height


	Illustrative Site Plan.pdf
	Sheets
	05112 - Illustrative Site Plan


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page


	9 APPLICATION NO. 45/2020/0897 - LAND AT REAR OF 2 ELM GROVE, RHYL
	Final report 45_2020_0897
	45/2020/0897
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	Blank Page





